

Atrial Fibrillation as a Clinical Model of Multimorbidity: Current Evidence, Experimental Data and a Proposal for Management

Dipartimento di Medicina Interna e Specialità Mediche Scuola di Dottorato in Scienze Mediche, Sperimentali e Cliniche Corso di Dottorato in Tecnologie Biomediche in Medicina Clinica

Relatore Chiarissimo Prof. Stefania Basili

Dottorando Dr. Marco Proietti Matricola 938020

Ad Eugenia A Mia Madre

Dedicato alla memoria di Giulio Regeni, che dedicando la vita a porsi domande, ha tristemente incontrato la morte per aver perseguito la conoscenza

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	. INTRODUCTION	6
	1.1 Atrial Fibrillation Epidemiology	6
	1.2 Relationship between Risk Factors and Incident AF	7
	1.3 Thromboembolic Risk in AF Patients	8
	1.4 Increased Risk of CV Death and All-Cause Death in AF	10
	1.5 Role of Specific Comorbidities in AF Clinical History	10
	1.6 The Concept of Multimorbidity and AF	14
2.	OBJECTIVES OF THE DOCTORAL PROJECT	15
	2.1 General Objectives of Doctoral Project	15
	2.2 Specific Aims of the Thesis	15
3.	. MATERIALS AND METHODS	18
	3.1 General Characteristics of the Studies and Analyses Performed	
	3.1.1 The AFFIRM Study	
	3.1.2 The EORP-AF General Pilot Study	
	3.1.3 The REPOSI Study	20
	3.1.5 The FANTASIIA Study	
	3.2 Statistical Methods	23
4.	. RESULTS	24
	4.1 The AFFIRM Study	24
	4.1.1 General Characteristics of the Population	24
	4.1.2 Relationship between Multimorbidity and TTR	
	4.1.3 Follow-Up Analysis	25 26
	1 2 The EOPP-AE General Pilot Study	26
	4.2.1 General Characteristics of the Population	
	4.2.2 Follow-Up Analysis	
	4.3 The REPOSI Study	
	4.3.1 General Characteristics of the Population	
	4.3.2 Cognitive and Functional Status	
	4.4 The Lombardy Region Administrative Health Databases	
	4.4.2 Trends in CCI and Relationship with AF	
	4.4.3 CCI and OAC Prescription	31
	4.4.4 Survival and Regression Analysis	32
	4.5 The FANTASIIA Study	32
	4.5.1 General Characteristics of the Population	
5		33 2/
J.	5.1 Coporal Overview of Results	J4
	5.2 Study Results in the Context of Current Knowledge	
	5.2 Study results in the context of current rilowiedge	34 27
6		،رو مر
Ο.	. CONCLUSIONS	

REFERENCES
TABLES
Table 1: Association between main risk factors and risk of incident Atrial Fibrillation53
Table 2: CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc Score55
Table 3: Baseline Characteristics according to Cumulative Comorbidities Quartiles in AFFIRM Study 56
Table 4: Logistic Regression Analysis for Quality of Anticoagulation Control Indexes58
Table 5: Major Clinical Adverse Events according to Cumulative Comorbidities Quartiles
Table & Receive Characteristics according to Comercidity in EORD AF Bilat Study 60
Table 6: Baseline Characteristics according to Comorbidity in EORP-AF Pilot Study
Table 7: Major Adverse Events at Follow-op In EORP-AF Pilot
Table 8: Baseline Characteristics according to the Burden of Comorbidity
Comorbidity Index
Table 10: Baseline Characteristics according to Charlson Comorbidity Index Quartiles68
Table 11: Major Adverse Events according to Charlson Comorbidity Index Quartiles70
FIGURES
Figure 1: Worldwide Prevalence of Atrial Fibrillation71
Figure 2: Worldwide Incidence of Atrial Fibrillation72
Figure 3: Percental Changes in Worldwide Prevalence of Atrial Fibrillation
Figure 4: Percental Changes in Worldwide Incidence of Atrial Fibrillation
Figure 5: Annual Percental Changes in DALYs Related to Atrial Fibrillation
Figure 6: Trends in Changes in DALYs Related to Atrial Fibrillation
Figure 7: Mortality Attributable to Atrial Fibrillation77
Figure 8: Effect of Various Interventions on Incident AF Occurrence
Figure 9: Distribution of Concomitant Comorbidities in the AFFIRM Study79
Figure 10: Cumulative Risk of Stroke according to Comorbidities Quartiles in the AFFIRM Study80
Figure 11: Cumulative Risk of Major Bleeding according to Comorbidities Quartiles in the AFFIRM Study
Figure 12: Cumulative Risk of CV Death according to Comorbidities Quartiles in the AFFIRM Study82
Figure 13: Cumulative Risk of All-Cause Death according to Comorbidities Quartiles in the AFFIRM Study
Figure 14: Quality of Life Evaluation in the AFFIRM Study84
Figure 15: Kaplan-Meier Curve for CV Death in EORP-AF Pilot
Figure 16: Kaplan-Meier Curve for All-Cause Death in EORP-AF Pilot
Figure 17: Performance Scales Categories according to the Burden of Comorbidity87
Figure 18: Charlson Comorbidity Index Trends according to Atrial Fibrillation Diagnosis across the Follow-Up

Figure 19: Kaplan-Meier Curves for Major Adverse Events according to Charlson Comorbidity Index Classes	89
Figure 20: Kaplan-Meier Curves for Major Adverse Events according to Charlson Comorbidity Index Quartiles	90
Figure 21: A New Modified Approach to Treat and Manage AF Patients	91
Figure 22: An Alternative Model for the Integrated AF Clinic with Implementation of Specialist in Internal Medicine	92

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Atrial Fibrillation Epidemiology

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is the most prevalent and incident among the clinical arrhythmias¹. Estimates of the prevalence of AF in the United States ranged from \approx 2.7 million to 6.1 million in 2010 and AF prevalence is estimated to rise to 12.1 million in 2030. In the European Union, the prevalence of AF in adults >55 years of age was estimated to be 8.8 million (95% CI, 6.5–12.3 million) in 2010 and was projected to rise to 17.9 million in 2060 (95% CI, 13.6–23.7 million)¹.

Data retrieved from the Global Burden of Disease project showed that worldwide prevalence of AF is significant in Europe, North America and Australia, being higher in United States, as well as quite relevant in Russia [Figure 1]. Similar data can be found in relation to AF incidence [Figure 2]. Further, when the changes in prevalence and incidence are examined appears clear how, compared to 1990, significant increases for both indicators were found in the vast majority of world countries [Figure 3, Figure 4]. This evidence was also assessed in several specific report about AF epidemiology^{2,3}. Furthermore, specific epidemiological data from developing countries showed that, even if on a lower magnitude, the increase in prevalence and incidence was significant even in these countries⁴. Taking together all the evidence available, it is possible to underline how we are facing a "growing global epidemic" for AF.

Both prevalence and incidence have been found to progressively increase according to age and being higher in males than in females AF patients^{1,5}. A higher incidence of AF was also described in White subjects, compared to other ethnicities¹.

It has been also observed that AF is responsible of a relevant proportion of dailyadjusted life years (DALYs)⁴, that was observed as significantly increasing in 2017 compared to 1990 [Figure 5]. This increase in DALYs was also evident when examined according to male and female AF patients [Figure 6].

Lastly, risk of death attributable to AF was found to be increasing compared to 1990, both in male and female AF patients, in developed and developing countries⁴ [Figure 7]. This data related to epidemiology of AF are paired with increased costs both at individual and population level, significantly affection health-care systems⁶.

1.2 Relationship between Risk Factors and Incident AF

The increasing incidence of AF in the worldwide scenario has been strictly associated with the increased prevalence of various cardiovascular and non-cardiovascular risk factors^{7,8}. Indeed, modifiable lifestyle risk factors as alcohol consumption, physical activity, psychological distress and smoking habit, as well as specific cardiovascular risk factors as hypertension, diabetes mellitus, obesity and obstructive sleep apnea syndrome have been significantly associated with the presence of new AF (<u>Table 1</u>). In particular for hypertension, diabetes mellitus and obesity a dose-response relationship was identified. This was also demonstrated by a recent systematic review⁹.

The strict causal relationship between risk factor and incident AF, was also verified by the effectiveness of risk factor prevention strategies in terms of AF risk reduction. In the ARREST-AF study, an aggressive risk factors control management, aimed to control at the most all the major known cardiovascular risk factors¹⁰, reduced the risk for AF recurrence in obese patients with at least 1 cardiovascular risk factor that underwent an ablation procedure¹¹. This approach seems to suggest that to reduce at the most the risk of AF occurrence, a stricter risk factor control is needed, in order to combine all the beneficial effects of all the possible interventions. Extending this approach to the general population, we can hypothesize that interventions to obtain a strict risk factor control would be able to significantly reduce the overall risk of incident AF⁸ [Figure 8]. A modelling analysis in which the impact of various prevention strategies^{11,12} have been projected to the incidence rate of AF in a general population, showed how obtaining a progressively more strict control would grant to significantly reduce the rate of incident AF⁸.

1.3 Thromboembolic Risk in AF Patients

Ischemic stroke is the most common cardiovascular adverse event in AF patients, with an overall 5-fold increase in stroke risk and reported incidence of 19.5 per 1000 patient-years in 2002¹³. Additionally, stroke severity and recurrence risks are higher with AF.

Evaluation of thromboembolic risk at baseline is a pivotal step in the management of thromboembolic risk in AF patients. The most largely used tool to evaluate this risk is the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score (<u>Table 2</u>)¹⁴. The almost universal adoption of CHA₂DS₂-VASc score reflects the current data available, indicating it as the clinical risk score that provides better balance between evidence, practicality and precision¹⁵. A recent comparative effectiveness review about the ability of the scores to predict thromboembolic and bleeding events, reported that CHADS₂, CHA₂DS₂-VASc and the recent ABC-Stroke¹⁶ scores all had similarly the best predictive capacity for stroke occurrence¹⁷. Nonetheless, CHA₂DS₂-VASc differs from other scores for its

capacity to effectively identify those patients with very low risk, also compared to ABC-Stroke it does not need to perform expensive and time-consuming laboratory tests to be drawn¹⁵. Furthermore, recently a systematic review and meta-regression demonstrated that CHA₂DS₂-VASc score represent the score with the highest probability to perform as the best in predicting occurrence of all-cause death in AF patients¹⁸.

Oral anticoagulation (OAC) therapy with the vitamin K antagonists (VKA; e.g., warfarin), has been central for stroke prevention in the management AF. More recently, several drugs with direct inhibitory effects on thrombin and factor Xa have been developed¹⁹. These non-VKA oral anticoagulants (NOACs), namely, dabigatran etexilate, rivaroxaban, apixaban, and edoxaban, are proved to be as effective as warfarin for the prevention of stroke and systemic thromboembolism events in patients with AF²⁰. All major guidelines recommend use of NOACs as well as well managed VKA for the prevention of stroke and thromboembolic risk in non-valvular AF patients^{19,21–23}. However, OAC treatment is unavoidably associated with an increased risk of bleeding, regardless of OAC type used^{24,25}. In patients treated with VKA, quality of anticoagulation control, as expressed as time in therapeutic range (TTR), is a major determinant of major adverse outcomes^{26–30}, including stroke and major bleeding, hence interventions to obtain an optimal TTR control can be successful to optimize stroke prevention and minimize risk of bleeding events¹³. A TTR >70% is recommended to obtain an optimal control of anticoagulation treatment¹⁹. Conversely, in patients treated with NOACs, an optimal adherence to treatment is strongly needed to reduce the risk of stroke and major bleeding³¹.

1.4 Increased Risk of CV Death and All-Cause Death in AF

In the last years, evidence raised about an increased risk of major adverse events, beyond the above-mentioned discussed risk of stroke, in particular cardiovascular (CV) death and all-cause death, even despite the use of OAC^{32–37}. It emerges from several observational studies and secondary analyses of randomized controlled trials that patients with AF have a high risk of death, even higher than the risk of stroke.

An analysis from an observational cohort in France showed how cumulative risk of death was progressively higher, even than the risk of stroke, over a long-term follow-up observation with CV death being the main contributor³⁶. A pooled analysis derived from Phase 3 trials about non-vitamin K antagonist oral anticoagulants in AF showed that stroke accounted only for less than 6% of deaths, with cardiac and other vascular related deaths accounting for more than 50% of events³⁸.

An analysis comparing two European observational cohorts enrolled 12 years each other apart documented that risk of CV death and all-cause death significantly increased over time, and is independently associated with increased age and several concomitant CV and non-CV comorbidities³⁴.

1.5 Role of Specific Comorbidities in AF Clinical History

As described, several comorbidities have a significant impact in determining AF clinical history³⁴.

It is largely known that hypertension, defined as history of hypertension at the beginning of observation, is associated with an increased risk of adverse events in AF patients^{39,40}. Indeed, hypertension is considered among CHA₂DS₂-VASc¹⁴ and

HAS-BLED⁴¹ risk scores as one of the main factors in predicting both thromboembolic and bleeding risk. A subgroup analysis from the 'Apixaban for Reduction in Stroke and Other Thromboembolic Events in Atrial Fibrillation' (ARISTOTLE) trial found that clinical history of hypertension was associated with an increased risk of thromboembolic events (HR: 1.24, 95% CI: 1.03-1.49)⁴², while an analysis from the 'Randomized Evaluation of Long-Term Anticoagulation Therapy' (RE-LY) trial documented, conversely, an increased risk for major bleeding (HR: 1.25, 95% CI: 1.06-1.46)⁴³. In an analysis from the Atrial Fibrillation Follow-up Investigation of Rhythm Management (AFFIRM), blood pressure visit-to-visit variability was found to be associated independently associated with an increased risk for major adverse clinical outcomes, particularly stroke and major bleeding occurrence⁴⁴.

Also diabetes mellitus have been described as significantly associated to increased risk of major adverse outcomes in AF patients^{45,46}. Some reports also described that duration of diabetes mellitus⁴⁷, as well as glycaemic control^{48,49}.

In the recent years accumulating evidence suggest a strong relationship between AF and peripheral arterial disease (PAD)^{50–52}. In particular, AF patients affected with PAD are found to be at increased risk of major adverse outcomes⁵³. Since 2000, Frost and colleagues exploring the association between AF and incident stroke occurrence found that, despite a not particularly high prevalence, PAD was independently associated with stroke occurrence, both in male and female subjects (HR: 1.3, 95% CI: 1.0-1.7 and HR: 1.3, 95% CI: 1.0-1.6)⁵⁴. A Follow-up analysis of the "Atrial Fibrillation Registry for Ankle-brachial Index Prevalence Assessment: Collaborative Italian Study" (ARAPACIS) study further extended the evidence about

association between AF and PAD in determining adverse outcomes. Indeed, ABI ≤0.90 was found significantly associated with incident MI (HR: 2.62, 95% CI: 1.32-5.20), vascular death (HR: 2.24, 95% CI: 1.34-3.73) and the composite outcome of any vascular event (HR: 1.50, 95% CI: 1.11-2.03) over a 3 years follow-up time⁵⁵.

Recently, the role of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) has been assessed in determining risk of adverse outcomes in AF patients. In a subgroup analysis from the EURObservational Research Programme in AF (EORP-AF) found that COPD was associated with higher rates of CV death, all-cause death and the composite outcome of any thromboembolic event/bleeding/CV death. Also, COPD was found independently associated with a higher risk of all-cause death⁵⁶. Data coming from an observational study in a Chinese AF population reported that patients with both AF and COPD were at higher risk for both all-cause death (hazard ratio [HR]: 1.491) and CV death (HR: 1.595)⁵⁷. A sub-group analysis from the ARISTOTLE study reported that COPD patients had a significant risk excess for both CV and allcause death, with a 40% to 60% relative risk increase⁵⁸. Both studies reported no influence of COPD in determining stroke occurrence. A recent analysis from the Rivaroxaban Once Daily Oral Direct Factor Xa Inhibition Compared with Vitamin K Antagonism for Prevention of Stroke and Embolism Trial in Atrial Fibrillation' (ROCKET AF) trial also showed that COPD confers an higher risk for both CV death (HR: 1.42) and all-cause death (HR: 1.65)³⁷.

Coronary artery disease (CAD) is also associated with worst outcomes in AF patients. A study from a large population-based cohort documented that presence of CAD was associated with an increased risk of stroke, myocardial infarction, CV death

and all-cause death. Also, the risk of events was proportionally higher according to the extent of CAD (1, 2 or 3 vessels)⁵⁹.

A recent paper derived from an observational cohort documented that also metabolic syndrome is associated with major adverse cardiac events (MACE), myocardial infarction, coronary revascularization and CV death. After a propensity matching adjustment metabolic syndrome conferred an independent risk for MACE (HR: 1.87, 95% CI: 1.21–3.01), myocardial infarction (HR: 1.72, 95% CI: 1.54–5.00), coronary revascularization (HR: 2.18, 95% CI: 1.69–3.11), and CV death (HR: 2.27, 95% CI: 1.14–5.11)⁶⁰.

Chronic kidney disease is an established risk factor for stroke, major bleeding, CV death and all-cause as it emerges from several studies⁶¹. The most striking issue in the relationship between chronic kidney disease and AF is the contemporary increased risk of stroke and major bleeding⁶². The Loire Valley Atrial Fibrillation Project showed that CKD, defined as an estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) below 60 ml/min/1.73 m², was associated with a higher incidence of ischemic stroke/thromboembolism events, but multivariable Cox regression analysis did not demonstrate an independent effect of renal impairment on predicting major adverse events, after adjusting for CHA₂DS₂-VASc score risk factors^{63,64}. At the same time, in the same study the authors provided evidence for an increased risk of major bleeding. An analysis from the 'Stroke Prevention Using Oral Thrombin Inhibitor in Atrial Fibrillation' (SPORTIF) III and V studies, found that CKD was associated with risk of stroke, major bleeding and all-cause death⁶⁵. The same study also underlined how the relationship between CKD and major adverse outcomes was strictly and significantly dependent on quality of anticoagulation control, as expressed by TTR⁶⁵.

1.6 The Concept of Multimorbidity and AF

The concept of multimorbidity (defined as the concomitant presence of two or more chronic conditions) has gained much medical attention in the last decades⁶⁶. As with AF, the prevalence of multimorbidity increases with increasing age and is associated with a high risk of mortality, reduced functional status, increased healthcare expenditure and use of resources⁶⁷. As part of the biological, sociological and clinical complexity associated with healthcare⁶⁸, multimorbidity demands solid integrated care and an holistic approach to the patient in order to properly manage the associated risks⁶⁷. Moreover, multimorbidity is very common in patients with CV disease⁶⁹.

The Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) has been validated as a reliable tool to evaluate the burden of multimorbidity in the general population and is significantly associated with an increased risk of all-cause death during the long-term follow-up⁷⁰. Furthermore, CCI has been extensively validated in patients with CV disease⁷¹. Nevertheless, despite AF being associated with several comorbidities¹⁹, scarce data exist about the overall burden of multimorbidity, or the relationship with CCI, and AF.

2. OBJECTIVES OF THE DOCTORAL PROJECT

2.1 General Objectives of Doctoral Project

The general objectives of the project were to make a comprehensive report about prevalence of major cardiovascular and non-cardiovascular comorbidities among large AF patients cohorts derived from both contemporary randomized controlled trials (RCTs) and observational studies; further the project aimed to describe the interactions of clinical comorbidities with thromboembolic risk and antithrombotic therapy. Also, the project intended to report relationship between principal comorbidities and all-cause death occurrence. These initial general objectives of the study were achieved in the first part of the doctoral course and reported above, as part of the current available evidence regarding AF and its clinical history. Those objectives were achieved through multiple subgroup analysis, derived from several observational, randomized controlled trials and administrative databases.

After the first part of the doctoral course was completed, the project moved to describe in more detail, among the role of single conditions and comorbidities, the burden of multimorbidity in AF in various specific scenarios. Further, the project aimed to describe the impact of multimorbidity in AF in determining OAC prescription, quality of OAC control, functional status, quality of life and major adverse outcomes.

2.2 Specific Aims of the Thesis

Moving from the general objectives of the doctoral project, this thesis will describe results derived from multiple analysis about the impact of multimorbidity on various health indexes and outcomes, derived from several different populations. More precisely, data from the following populations and studies will be reported:

- 'Atrial Fibrillation Follow-up Investigation of Rhythm Management' (AFFIRM)
 - The aims for this analysis were to analyse in a cohort derived from a randomised controlled trial the relationship between multimorbidity, expressed as the cumulative addition of the various comorbidities and TTR, quality of life and stroke, major bleeding, CV death and all-cause death.
- 'EURObservational Research Programme in Atrial Fibrillation' (EORP-AF)
 General Pilot Study
 - The aims for this analysis were to analyse in a cohort derived from a multicentre observational European-wide study the relationship between multimorbidity, expressed as the cumulative addition of the various comorbidities, prescription of OAC and major adverse events, in particular CV death and all-cause death.
- 'REgistro POliterapie SIMI' (REPOSI) Study
 - The aims for this analysis were to analyse in a cohort of hospitalised elderly (≥65 years old) patients the impact of multimorbidity, expressed as the Cumulative Illness Rating Scale Index of Comorbidity (CIRS-IC), in terms of functional status and its impact on CV death and all-cause death.
- Lombardy Region Administrative Health Databases
 - The aims for this analysis were to retrospectively analyse in a populationbased cohort the relationship between multimorbidity, expressed as CCI, and AF and its impact on OAC prescription and stroke, major bleeding and allcause death occurrence
- 'Fibrilacion Auricular: influencia del Nivel y Tipo de Anticoagulacion Sobre la Incidencia de Ictus y Accidentes hemorragico' (FANTASIIA) Study
 - The aims for this analysis were to analyse in a multicentre observational nationwide cohort the impact of multimorbidity, expressed as baseline

calculated CCI, on TTR and stroke, major bleeding, CV death and all-cause death.

Hence, on the basis of previous evidence, experimental data provided will be discussed and interpreted in order to give an overall picture of the impact of multimorbidity in the context of AF. Lastly, a proposal for an improved management of these patients, originated by the results provided, will be presented.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 General Characteristics of the Studies and Analyses Performed

In this section the general characteristics of the studies used to perform the analyses above described. The specific methods related to indexes and outcomes, where it does apply will be also provided.

3.1.1 The AFFIRM Study

The AFFIRM study was a nationwide multicentre open-label randomized controlled trial, held in US and Canada from 1995 to 2001 by the US National Institute of Health. The original study aimed to compare the rate and rhythm control management strategies in terms of risk of death prevention. A total of 4060 patients were enrolled, followed up for a mean (SD) time of 3.5 (1.3) years. Patients were assigned to rate or rhythm control at baseline and then managed according to physicians' discretion in relation to the current evidence-based practice⁷².

Multimorbidity was evaluated as the cumulative addition of the 12 conditions available from the study database. On the basis of the distribution of the total number of conditions that were reported for each patient, the cohort was divided into four quartiles. Quality of anticoagulation control was evaluated according to TTR, for those patients prescribed with OAC. In a reduced cohort of patients (795, 19.5%) physical and mental health were evaluated according to Short Form 36 Health Survey (SF-36) (https://www.rand.org/health/surveys_tools/mos/36-item-shortform.html), quality of life was evaluated according to Ferrans & Powers Cardiac III Quality of Life Index (https://qli.org.uic.edu/index.htm). First stroke, first major bleeding, CV death, all-cause death, first hospitalization and first CV hospitalization were the outcomes considered.

3.1.2 The EORP-AF General Pilot Study

The EORP-AF General Pilot Study was a prospective multi-national survey conducted by the European Society of Cardiology in 9 European countries (Belgium, Denmark, Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Romania, Greece, Italy, and Portugal) to determine clinical features, treatment patterns and outcomes amongst patients with AF managed by cardiologists⁷³. The study enrolled both in- and outpatients accessing to cardiology services (either hospital or office-based centres) with AF as a primary or secondary diagnosis. The qualifying AF event was recorded by a 12-lead ECG, 24 h ECG Holter or other electrocardiographic documentation and should have been occurred within the 12 months before the enrolment. From February 2012 to March 2013, a total of 3,119 AF patients were enrolled. Follow-up observation was extended up to 3 years. The present analysis considered the 2119 patients available for the 3 years follow-up analysis, with a final number of 1629 of patients included.

Multimorbidity was evaluated as the cumulative addition of 12 conditions as retrieved from the original database. On the basis of the median number of comorbidities, the cohort was divided into 'low multimorbidity' and 'high multimorbidity' groups.

Prescription of OAC was evaluated at baseline. Stroke, any thromboembolic event (TE), bleeding events, CV death, all-cause death, any AF rehospitalization, any CV rehospitalization were considered as outcomes.

3.1.3 The REPOSI Study

The REPOSI study is a multicentre collaborative observational registry jointly held by the Italian Society of Internal Medicine (SIMI), the IRCCS Ca' Granda Maggiore Policlinico Hospital Foundation and the IRCCS Mario Negri Institute of Pharmacological Research, is based upon the participation of a representative network of internal medicine and geriatric wards in Italy. Full details about register design and specific aims have been reported⁷⁴. Briefly, REPOSI was held for three non-consecutive years (2008, 2010, 2012) and then annually from 2014 onwards. In each of these years, consecutive patients acutely admitted to the participating wards and being older than 65 years were enlisted in the register over a period of 4 weeks on a quarterly basis (*i.e.* February, June, September and December). All diagnoses made at hospital admission were coded according to the International Classification of Diseases – 9th Edition (ICD-9) system. Medication use at admission and discharge was assessed according to the Anatomic Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) Classification System.

Multimorbidity was evaluated according to the CIRS-IC index, an established tool to evaluate multimorbidity in elderly patients⁷⁵. All patients with a diagnosis of AF, with data about CIRS-IC and available follow-up data were included in this analysis. Out of the 7003 patients enrolled in the registry so far, a total of 1102 patients were considered for this analysis. The analysis was performed according to CIRS-IC tertiles.

The Short Blessed Test (SBT) was used as a tool to evaluate cognitive functions⁷⁶. The Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS) was considered as a tool to evaluate depression in the elderly⁷⁷. Patient functional status was assessed with the Barthel

index⁷⁸. CV death, all-cause death and rehospitalization were the outcomes considered.

3.1.4 The Lombardy Region Administrative Health Databases

This study used linkable administrative health databases of the Lombardy Region which include the demographic data of all residents and detailed information on hospital admissions and drug prescriptions. To date, with a population of more than 10 million inhabitants, Lombardy is the largest Italian region, comprising highly populated urban areas, as well as industrial and rural ones.

All databases are linked anonymously using unique encrypted patient codes, in accordance with the Italian privacy regulations. By virtue of a specific agreement between the Mario Negri Institute and the Lombardy Region, for the use of the anonymous administrative data derived from these databases it was not necessary to obtain approval from any ethics committee. Data were available for fifteen consecutive years, from 2000 to 2014. For any hospital admission, all discharge diagnoses have been coded according to International Classification of Disease 9th revision [ICD-9]. Moreover, the hospital discharge database records the date of hospital admission, date of discharge or death and procedures performed during admission. The drug prescription database contains the drug name and its Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical classification code, quantity and dispensation date after the discharge at home, but not during the index hospitalization. All data about subjects ≥40 years old (>6 million inhabitants) were available and included in this analysis.

Data from 2000 to 2001 were used to build the clinical history of patients and to calculate baseline CCI. Year 2002 was used as index year to evaluate AF diagnosis. All discharge diagnoses were searched for codes 427.31 and 427.32, and all subjects with these codes irrespective of position, were assigned to the group of patients with prevalent AF. A random sample of non-AF patients ten times greater than those with AF was taken as a control group.

According to the diagnoses reported at discharge and coded as per ICD-9, all patients were evaluated for presence of concomitant conditions. In its original definition, CCI comprised 19 diagnosis to which different weights have been assigned and summed to obtain the final calculation of CCI^{70} . For this study, the CCI was calculated according to a validated method applied to the administrative databases⁷⁹. All AF patients were grouped according to CCI as patients with low multimorbidity (CCI 0-3) and a high multimorbidity (CCI \geq 4).

OAC prescription at beginning and end of observation was evaluated according to both continuous and categorical CCI. Stroke, major bleeding and all-cause death were considered as outcomes and evaluated according to time-dependent continuous CCI.

3.1.5 The FANTASIIA Study

The FANTASIIA registry is an observational, prospective, national and multicentre study of clinical and demographic characteristics of Spanish AF patients. In brief, the main objective was to assess the incidence of thromboembolic and bleeding events in an unselected population of patients with AF, specifically the type of oral anticoagulant (VKA or NOACs) used and quality of anticoagulation with VKAs.

Between June 2013 and March 2014, all outpatients with confirmed diagnosis of paroxysmal, persistent or permanent AF, were prospectively enrolled. All patients included in the registry had been receiving OAC (VKA or NOACs) for at least 6 months before enrolment. A total of 2178 patients were enrolled and followed for 2 years. At baseline each investigator directly calculated CCI for each patient. Study cohort was divided on the basis of CCI quartiles.

Quality of anticoagulation was evaluated according to TTR. Stroke, major bleeding, CV death and all-cause death were considered as outcomes.

3.2 Statistical Methods

All continuous variables were expressed as mean (SD) or median (IQR) according to variables characteristics. Differences between groups were assessed according to t-test or One-Way ANOVA, and Mann-Whitney U test or Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA test according to the type of variable and the number of groups considered. Categorical variables were expressed as counts and percentages. Differences between groups were assessed with chi-square test.

Differences throughout follow-up points of continuous variable were evaluated according to repeated measures ANOVA F test.

Differences in cumulative risk of studies outcomes between groups were evaluated according to Kaplan-Meier curves. All linear and logistic regression analyses were performed as univariate and multivariate adjusted analyses according to biological plausibility and scientific evidence. Similarly, Cox regression analyses were performed as univariate and multivariate adjusted analyses according to biological plausibility and scientific evidence. A two-sided value of $p \le 0.05$ was considered statistically significant. All the analyses were performed with SPSS 25.0 (IBM, NY, USA), Stata 13.0 (Stata Corp LP, College Station, TX, USA) or SAS software 9.4 (SAS Institute).

4. RESULTS

4.1 The AFFIRM Study

4.1.1 General Characteristics of the Population

All the 4060 patients originally enrolled entered the study. Distribution of the number of concomitant comorbidities are reported in Figure 9. Among them, 11.1% had no comorbidities, 33.4% had one comorbidity and 55.5% had 2 or more comorbidities. According to quartiles, 1809 patients were in Q1 (0-1 comorbidity), 1108 were in Q2 (2 comorbidities), 615 were in Q3 (3 comorbidities) and 528 were in Q4 (\geq 4 comorbidities) (Table 3). General characteristics according the four quartiles are reported in Table 3. No differences were noted in terms of age and sex distribution, while smoking habit was progressively more prevalent according to the increasing quartiles. Also, patients were more likely symptomatic with increasing quartiles.

Polypharmacy (\geq 5 drugs assumed contemporarily) was progressively more prevalent from Q1 to Q4, as well as the use of aspirin and the use of warfarin as OAC treatment (<u>Table 3</u>). Median CHA₂DS₂-VASc was progressively higher in the four quartiles, as well as the proportion of patients with high thromboembolic risk (CHA₂DS₂-VASc \geq 2). Conversely, TTR was found to be progressively lower as the quartiles increased.

4.1.2 Relationship between Multimorbidity and TTR

A multivariable adjusted logistic regression analysis found that an inverse association between the increasing quartiles and the prevalence of TTR >70% was found (<u>Table</u> <u>4</u>). Conversely, a progressively stronger direct association between increasing comorbidities quartiles and TTR ≤65% (bad control) and TTR ≤60% (very bad control) was confirmed. Similar evidence was retrieved considering the number of comorbidities as a continuous variable (<u>Table 4</u>).

4.1.3 Follow-Up Analysis

During follow-up observation, a significant increasing rate of all the outcomes considered, except for stroke, across the quartiles (<u>Table 5</u>).

Kaplan-Meier curves documented across the quartiles an increased cumulative risk of stroke (p=0.037) [Figure 10], major bleeding (p<0.001) [Figure 11], CV death (p<0.001) [Figure 12] and All-Cause death (p<0.001) [Figure 13]. Similar data were found for first hospitalization (chi-square: 181.027, p<0.001) and first CV hospitalization (chi-square: 73.122, p<0.001).

Adjusted Cox regression analysis showed that while stroke was not independently predicted by the burden of comorbidities, the highest quartile was associated with major bleeding occurrence (compared to Q1, Q2: HR 1.16, 95% CI 0.79-1.70; Q3: HR 1.52, 95% CI 0.99-2.33; Q4: HR 1.99, 95% CI 1.31-3.04). A progressively higher risk across the quartiles was found for CV death occurrence (compared to Q1, Q2: HR 2.56, 95% CI 1.60-4.10; Q3: HR 3.49, 95% CI 2.13-5.71; Q4: HR 8.70, 95% CI 5.60-13.54). It was also associated with an increased risk of all-cause death

(compared to Q1, Q2: HR 2.14, 95% CI 1.56-2.94; Q3: HR 2.47, 95% CI 1.75-3.50; Q4: HR 5.53, 95% CI 4.06-7.52).

The progressively increasing burden of comorbidity was also found associated with first hospitalization (compared to Q1, Q2: HR 1.32, 95% CI 1.18-1.48; Q3: HR 1.47, 95% CI 1.29-1.68; Q4: HR 1.95, 95% CI 1.70-2.24) and first CV hospitalization (compared to Q1, Q2: HR 1.32, 95% CI 1.14-1.53; Q3: HR 1.38, 95% CI 1.15-1.65; Q4: HR 2.04, 95% CI 1.71-2.43).

4.1.4 Quality of Life Evaluation

A pool of 795 patients also entered the quality of life substudy. The SF-36 physical health and SF-36 mental health scores and the Ferrans & Powers Cardiac III Quality of Life Index were examined at 6 pre-specified follow-up points. Given the low number of subjects, the cohort was divided into two groups: i) low comorbidity: 0-3 comorbidities; ii) high comorbidity: ≥4 comorbidities.

As reported in Figure 14, patients with high comorbidity (black solid line) had a steadily lower score for the SF-36 physical health score (F: 11.308, p=0.001) [Figure 14, Upper Panel], while there was no difference in terms of the SF-36 mental health score (F: 1.234, p=0.269) [Figure 14, Middle Panel]. Further, patients with high comorbidity has a steadily lower score for the Cardiac III Quality of Life Index (F: 7.374, p=0.008) [Figure 14, Lower Panel].

4.2 The EORP-AF General Pilot Study

The original study enrolled 3119 patients. Of these 2119 (67.9%) qualified for the 3 years follow-up analysis. All the patients that had complete data about all the 12

chronic comorbidities considered were included in this analysis, with a final cohort of 1629 AF patients.

4.2.1 General Characteristics of the Population

Among the patients included, the median [IQR] number of comorbidities was 3 [2-5]. Only 47 (2.9%) had no comorbidities, 178 (10.9%) had only one comorbidity, while the remaining 86.2% had \geq 2 comorbidities. According to median value, we defined the low multimorbidity (840, 51.6%) and the high multimorbidity (789, 48.4%) (<u>Table</u> <u>6</u>). Patients with high multimorbidity were older, more likely obese and with a more likely permanent AF.

At baseline, both median [IQR] CHA_2DS_2 -VASc and HAS-BLED were higher in patients with high multimorbidity. As well as the proportion of high thromboembolic risk (CHA_2DS_2 -VASc≥2) and high bleeding risk (HAS-BLED≥3) (<u>Table 6</u>).

Patients with high multimorbidity were more likely treated with antiplatelet drugs and aspirin. While there was no difference in terms of the overall OAC use, patients with high multimorbidity were more likely treated with VKA, while those with low multimorbidity were more treated with NOACs (<u>Table 6</u>). Looking at the patterns of antithrombotic drugs, patients with high multimorbidity were more likely treated with duel antithrombotic therapy (antiplatelet drugs plus OAC) (<u>Table 6</u>). At univariate logistic regression analysis, the presence of high multimorbidity was not associated to any difference in OAC prescription (OR: 1.13, 95% CI: 0.88-1.45), so no multivariate analysis was performed.

4.2.2 Follow-Up Analysis

After a 3 years follow-up observation, patients with high multimorbidity had a higher rate of any TE, CV death, all-cause death and of the composite outcome of any TE/bleeding/CV death (<u>Table 7</u>). Also, while the rate of any AF rehospitalization was lower in patients with high multimorbidity, the rate of any CV rehospitalization was conversely higher in those patients (<u>Table 7</u>).

An adjusted logistic regression analysis found that high multimorbidity was significantly associated with the risk of any TE (OR: 1.88, 95% CI: 1.09-3.25), CV death (OR: 2.48, 95% CI: 1.59-3.87), all-cause death (OR: 2.77, 95% CI: 2.08-3.69), any TE/bleeding/CV death (OR: 2.14, 95% CI: 1.56-2.92) and any CV rehospitalization (OR: 2.00, 95% CI: 1.54-2.61). Conversely high multimorbidity was inversely associated with any AF rehospitalization (OR: 0.66, 95% CI: 0.51-0.86).

Kaplan-Meier curves were drafted for CV death [Figure 15] and all-cause death [Figure 16], with high multimorbidity showing a significantly higher cumulative risk for both events (both p<0.0001).

Cox fully multivariate adjusted analysis confirmed that high multimorbidity was significantly independently associated with CV death (HR: 2.38, 95% CI: 1.52-3.73) and all-cause death (HR: 2.57, 95% CI: 1.93-3.42) occurrence.

4.3 The REPOSI Study

4.3.1 General Characteristics of the Population

According to baseline CIRS-IC, the 1102 patients included in the cohort were divided in three tertiles: i) T1= 362 patients; ii) T2= 412 patients; iii) T3= 328 patients (<u>Table</u>

<u>8</u>). No differences in age and sex proportion were found. Progressively higher values of GDS and SBT according to the increasing tertiles were found; conversely Barthel index was progressively lower. An increasing prevalence of caregiver presence was found across the tertiles, as well as the smoking habit. Accordingly, several of the comorbidities considered at baseline were found progressively more prevalent across the tertiles (<u>Table 8</u>). Furthermore, an increasing rate of polypharmacy was found across the three groups.

 CHA_2DS_2 -VASc score was progressively higher across the tertiles. No difference in terms of any antithrombotic therapy (<u>Table 8</u>).

4.3.2 Cognitive and Functional Status

According to the CIRS-IC tertiles [Figure 17] it was found a progressively higher rate of dementia according to SBT (p=0.002), as well as a higher rate of depression according to GDS (p=0.014). Furthermore, an increasing proportion of patients moderately and highly dependent according to Barthel index, was found across the tertiles (p<0.001).

4.3.3 Follow-Up Analysis

During follow-up a progressively higher rate of CV death (4.4% vs. 6.8% vs. 10.7%, p=0.006), all-cause death (10.5% vs. 16.3% vs. 24.1%, p<0.001) across the tertiles, while the rate of rehospitalization was higher in the T3 (23.8% vs. 18.0% in T1 and 15.8% in T2, p=0.019). A multivariate adjusted logistic regression analysis found an increasing direct association between increasing tertiles and risk of all-cause death (compared to T1, T2: OR 1.55, 95% CI 1.01-2.39 and T3: OR 2.61, 95% CI 1.70-4.01), conversely only the highest tertile was found directly associated with risk of CV

death (compared to T1, T2: OR 1.48, 95% CI 0.78-2.79 and T3: OR 2.61, 95% CI 1.70-4.01) and with risk of rehospitalization (compared to T1, T2: OR 0.88, 95% CI 0.60-1.29 and T3: OR 1.45, 95% CI 1.00-2.11).

Continuous CIRS-IC was directly associated with increased risk of CV death (OR: 1.26, 95% CI: 1.12-1.41), all-cause death (OR: 1.26, 95% CI: 1.16-1.37) and rehospitalization (OR: 1.11, 95% CI: 1.03-1.20).

4.4 The Lombardy Region Administrative Health Databases

4.4.1 General Characteristics of the Population

In 2002, a total of 24,040 AF patients were retrieved, as well as 240,400 non-AF patients. At baseline (Table 9), AF patients had a significantly higher mean (\pm SD) CCI than non-AF subjects (1.8 \pm 2.1 vs. 0.2 \pm 0.9, p<0.001). Patients with AF were significantly older and more likely male, and more likely affected by comorbidities compared to non-AF subjects. Accordingly, AF patients had a significantly higher mean CHA₂DS₂-VASc score compared to non-AF subjects.

Within the overall AF patient cohort, 4295 patients (17.9%) had high multimorbidity (CCI ≥4), while 19,745 (82.1%) had low multimorbidity (CCI 0-3) (Table 9). Mean (±SD) CCI for the high multimorbidity group was 5.5 ± 1.8 , while for the low multimorbidity group, 1.1 ± 1.1 (p<0.001). Patients with high multimorbidity were older and more likely male than those with low multimorbidity (both p<0.001). In patients with high multimorbidity all conditions considered were more prevalent, except for hypertension which was more prevalent in the low multimorbidity group (p<0.001). Patients with high multimorbidity and a higher thromboembolic risk than the low multimorbidity group. At baseline, patients with high multimorbidity were significantly

less prescribed with OAC than those with low multimorbidity (30.0% vs. 42.3%, p<0.001) (<u>Table 9</u>).

4.4.2 Trends in CCI and Relationship with AF

A mixed linear effect logistic model was compiled to analyse the relationship between AF and CCI. Overall, CCI progressively increased over time both in non-AF and AF patients, being increasingly and steadily higher in AF patients compared to non-AF ones (p<0.001) [Figure 18]. After adjustment for years of observation, age, sex and an interaction term between AF and years of observation, AF was associated with a progressively higher CCI (beta coefficient: 1.69, 95% confidence interval [CI]: 1.67-1.70), F= 99943.8, p<0.001). Further, the interaction term between AF and years of observation was also independently associated to the progressively higher CCI (p<0.001). Subgroup analysis for age classes, showed that this relationship was consistently statistically significant for patients <65 years, 65-74 years and ≥75 years (all p<0.001).

4.4.3 CCI and OAC Prescription

After adjustment for age and sex, CCI as a continuous variable was inversely associated with OAC prescription (odds ratio [OR]: 0.91, 95% CI: 0.89-0.92). The high multimorbidity category (CCI \geq 4) was inversely associated with OAC prescription (OR: 0.65, 95% CI: 0.60-0.70).

At the end of follow-up, even though CCI as a continuous variable was inversely associated with OAC prescription (OR: 0.98, 95% CI: 0.98-0.99), the high multimorbidity category was not significantly associated (OR: 0.98, 95% CI: 0.93-1.04). Examining separately VKA and NOACs prescription, while there was no

difference in VKA prescription, both continuous (OR: 0.86, 95% CI: 0.81-0.90) and categorical (OR: 0.48, 95% CI: 0.37-0.63) CCI were inversely associated with prescription of NOACs.

4.4.4 Survival and Regression Analysis

At follow-up, all the outcomes showed higher cumulative incidence in the high multimorbidity group (all p<0.001). Kaplan-Meier analysis shows that risk for stroke, major bleeding and all-cause death was consistently higher in high multimorbidity group compared to the low multimorbidity group [Figure 19].

Cox regression analysis, using CCI as a continuous time-dependent variable to take account of the temporal increase and adjusted for age, sex and use of OAC, CCI was significantly associated with an increased risk for stroke (HR: 1.04, 95% CI: 1.02-1.06 per increasing point), major bleeding (HR: 1.03, 95% CI: 1.01-1.06 per increasing point) and all-cause death (HR: 1.10, 95% CI: 1.09-1.11 per increasing point).

4.5 The FANTASIIA Study

4.5.1 General Characteristics of the Population

According to availability of baseline CCI, among 2178 patients enrolled 1956 (89.8%) were available for the analysis. According to CCI patients were divided in quartiles: i) Q1= 676 patients; ii) Q2= 683 patients; iii) Q3= 345 patients; iv) Q4= 252 patients (Table 10). At baseline, a progressively lower proportion of female AF patients were found across the quartiles, with patients in Q3 and Q4 being more likely on permanent AF. Both CHA_2DS_2 -VASc and HAS-BLED scores were progressively higher across the quartiles (both p<0.001) (Table 10). No differences were found in terms of OAC used, while antiplatelet drugs were progressively more prescribe

across the quartiles (Table 10).

Mean (±SD) TTR was progressively lower according to increasing quartiles $(63.1\pm24.5 \text{ vs.} 62.0\pm25.3 \text{ vs.} 62.2\pm25.7 \text{ vs.} 54.7\pm24.2, p<0.001)$. Multivariate adjusted linear regression analysis found that CCI Q4 was inversely associated with TTR (unstandardized beta: -6.97, 95% CI: -11.59 / -2.36). Also, proportion of patients with TTR >70% was progressively lower from Q1 to Q4 (43.4% vs. 42.3% vs, 41.8% vs. 30.2%, p=0.010). Logistic regression analysis confirmed that only Q4 was inversely associated to TTR >70% (compared to Q1, Q2: OR 1.01, 95% CI 0.78-1.31, Q3: OR 1.02, 95% CI 0.74-1.41, Q4: OR 0.64, 95% CI 0.43-0.94).

4.5.2 Follow-Up Analysis

During the 2 years follow-up (Table 11) while no difference was found in terms of stroke rate (p=0.104), an increasing rate for major bleeding (p=0.003), CV death (p<0.001) and all-cause death (p<0.001) was found. Kaplan-Meier curves showed a progressively lower survival probability for major bleeding, CV death and all-cause death (all p<0.001) [Figure 20].

Multivariate adjusted Cox regression found a direct association for Q4 with risk of major bleeding and CV death, while an increasing direct association with risk of all-cause death was found across the quartiles (compared to Q1, Q2: HR 1.52, 95% CI 1.05-2.20, Q3: HR 1.91, 95% CI 1.25-2.89, Q4: HR 2.30, 95% CI 1.47-3.61) (Table 11). A direct association in risk of major bleeding, CV death and all-cause death was found for continuous CCI (Table 11).

5. DISCUSSION

5.1 General Overview of Results

Data coming from the studies' results above described, provided evidence the in AF patients, burden of multimorbidity has a direct impact on OAC prescription, quality of anticoagulation control, performance status, quality of life and, more importantly, on major adverse outcomes. Indeed, increasing multimorbidity were found inversely associated with OAC prescription, as well as with TTR. Further, in two of the studies reported, a higher multimorbidity were found to be characterized by an increased rate of depression, dementia and dependency in daily activities and by an impaired physical health and quality of life. Taking together all the evidence provided it was found that an increased burden of multimorbidity is directly associated with all the major adverse outcomes described (stroke, any TE, major bleeding, CV death, all-cause death, rehospitalization). Finally, it was also provided evidence of a direct relationship between AF and progressively increasing burden of multimorbidity, independent by other context variables.

5.2 Study Results in the Context of Current Knowledge

The independent relationship between various single diseases and AF has been largely demonstrated. Indeed, as described above in the introduction several conditions contribute independently to incident AF occurrence and it has been suggested that tight control of concomitant risk factors and comorbidities could significantly reduce the burden of AF^{7,80}. Furthermore, several diseases are independently prevalent in AF patients^{81,82}. The data presented allow to establish a strong relationship and a direct link between AF and burden of multimorbidity, making AF as a proxy of a worse clinical status and a clinical model of multimorbidity.

The various designs of the studies presented, contributed to make evidence gathered solid. Obtaining data from randomized controlled trials, observational studies and population-based cohorts allowed us to acquire data that were both methodologically sound and representative of real life, both in general AF population and specific subgroup of elderly patients. Moreover, the use of validated tools to evaluate multimorbidity as CCI and CIRS-IC further reinforced the results.

The influence of multimorbidity on OAC prescription, as we showed, represents a concerning trend, in particular if we consider the associated increased thromboembolic risk. In the study by Vanbeselaere and colleagues, there was a possible inverse relationship between increasing CCI and reduced OAC prescription⁸³. This thesis extends previous knowledge, showing how this inverse relationship appears consistent in general AF population and over long-term observation periods. Moreover, we showed that if physicians appear to be more confident in prescribing VKA, the prescription of NOACs is significantly reduced in patients with increased multimorbidity. Our results substantiate previous observations that seem to suggest that AF patients prescribed with NOACs are relatively healthier and have less prevalent comorbidities^{81,84}.

Notwithstanding the strong results we described, so far data about AF and multimorbidity, in particular about validated tools as CCI or CIRS-IC have been scarce. In a Belgian study derived from a primary care registry, a modified version of the CCI was found higher in AF elderly (≥60 years) patients than in non-AF ones, also being associated with AF diagnosis⁸³. The data presented in this thesis extended this previous evidence, confirming how the burden of multimorbidity is significant in AF patients, irrespective of age and of what may be the single medical

conditions. A recent study derived from the UK Biobank, in a cohort of patients with self-reported AF which examined the presence of multimorbidity as the additive presence of various conditions, only 19.6% of patients reported no comorbidities and 11.1% of patients reported 4 or more comorbidities⁸⁵. Very recently, a subgroup analysis derived from the ARISTOTLE study appeared to confirm the association between multimorbidity and all the relevant outcomes in AF patients⁸⁶.

In the recent years, the increased risk of CV-related and all-cause death in AF cohorts has shifted the main focus of prevention of adverse events from stroke to mortality^{33,36,37,87–89}. Our data show that the increased and increasing multimorbidity burden is strongly associated with an increased risk of all the adverse events, stroke, major bleeding and all-cause death. The Framingham Heart Study previously showed that AF patients with comorbidities have a consistently increased risk for cardiovascular events and all-cause death compared to those without⁹⁰. An analysis from the "Outcomes Registry for Better Informed Treatment of Atrial Fibrillation" study showed that when AF patients were clustered according to the more frequent clinical characteristics, those in the 'low-comorbidity' cluster had the lowest risk major cardiovascular and neurological adverse events than all the other identified clusters, variously affected by risk factors and other comorbidities⁸².

This thesis also extends previous knowledge about the usefulness of CCI in AF patients. Thus far CCI have been already validated in patients with acute coronary syndrome⁹¹ and stroke⁹² and other cardiovascular conditions⁷¹. Hence this thesis provided solid and large evaluation of CCI in AF cohorts.
5.3 New Approaches to Manage Multimorbidity and Clinical Complexity

On the basis of the showed increased burden of multimorbidity in AF patients, new approaches are required to manage these patients appropriately. In recent years there has been an increasing need of new approaches to manage AF patients, considering them in a more comprehensive, integrated and holistic way. A systematic review and meta-analysis by Gallagher and colleagues showed how an integrated care approach can significantly reduce hospitalization and mortality in AF patients⁹³. Various expert opinions and international consensus statements have proposed new integrated models to properly manage AF patients, with the ultimate objective to reduce the risk of adverse events^{94,95}. The "Atrial Fibrillation Better Care" pathway has recently been proposed as a possible model to integrate the various main aspects related to AF patients' management, in order to streamline and facilitate the integrated care and the holistic evaluation of these patients⁹⁶ and to be associated with a significant lower risk of major adverse events⁹⁷.

The strong association and relationship described between AF and multimorbidity requires the systematic adoption of a new approach that evaluate multimorbidity at baseline in all patients with AF. The recent ESC guidelines proposed a step-by-step approach in treating and managing new patients with AF¹⁹. On the basis of the results described, a modified version of this approach is proposed, taking ultimately account of the multimorbidity evaluation, to eventually identify a significant burden and adopt specific approaches to manage the associated risk, at the ABC pathway [Figure 21].

In the context of an increasing multimorbidity in the general population⁹⁸, paired with the increasing costs associated with its presence and the claim to reduce the use of

37

hospitalization and multiple referrals⁹⁹, a more prominent role of specialist in internal medicine has been claimed to provide a patient-centred healthcare that would be able to manage patients with an holistic approach¹⁰⁰. On this perspective, to face the burden of multimorbidity in AF patients, possibly a prominent role of specialist in internal medicine is due. Indeed, while heart team and cardiologist would provide specific care that would address the initial specialist management, specialist in internal medicine would be able to address all the aspects associated with clinical management of cardiovascular and non-cardiovascular comorbidities.

Hence, on the basis of the multidisciplinary approach suggested by the 6th AFNET/EHRA Consensus Conference, a modified version is proposed, with the introduction of specialist in internal medicine in the Integrated AF Clinic. In this specific context, the specialist in internal medicine would be able to manage primary and secondary cardiac and vascular prevention, diabetes mellitus, COPD, chronic kidney disease and several other conditions usually part of the clinical skills of the specialist in internal medicine [Figure 22].

The proposal of integrating the internal medicine specialist in the clinical management of the patient with AF need to be intended as speculative and hypotheses generating. The evidence relating AF and multimorbidity appears to be solid and stemming from several studies with different designs. Notwithstanding to provide specific recommendations more data are still needed. Future studies that will specifically and prospectively address the evaluation of multimorbidity in AF, the impact of integrated management approaches and the role of the specialist in internal medicine will better elucidate the clinical utility of the approaches proposed.

38

6. CONCLUSIONS

This thesis demonstrated that in AF patients exist a significant burden of multimorbidity, with a specific impact in determining treatments, performance and quality of life of patients. Also, and more importantly, the increased burden of multimorbidity is associated with an increased risk of all major adverse outcomes. In order to address this increased burden of multimorbidity, specific integrated management strategies to provide holistic treatment is needed. The assessment of multimorbidity would then be introduced in the systematic evaluation of AF patients. In the management of these patients a more prominent role of specialist in internal medicine, able to provide multiple skills to manage different conditions, is due to better implement the advocated integrated management.

REFERENCES

- Benjamin EJ, Virani SS, Callaway CW, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics— 2018 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2018;137(12):e67-e492. doi:10.1161/CIR.00000000000558.
- Chugh SS, Havmoeller R, Narayanan K, et al. Worldwide epidemiology of atrial fibrillation: a Global Burden of Disease 2010 Study. *Circulation*. 2014;129(8):837-847. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.005119.
- 3. Rahman F, Kwan GF, Benjamin EJ. Global epidemiology of atrial fibrillation. *Nat Rev Cardiol*. 2014;11(11):639-654. doi:10.1038/nrcardio.2014.118.
- Chugh SS, Roth GA, Gillum RF, Mensah GA. Global Burden of Atrial Fibrillation in Developed and Developing Nations. *Glob Heart*. 2014;9(1):113-119. doi:10.1016/j.gheart.2014.01.004.
- Proietti M, Mairesse GH, Goethals P, et al. A population screening programme for atrial fibrillation: A report from the Belgian Heart Rhythm Week screening programme. *Europace*. 2016;18(12):1779-1786. doi:10.1093/europace/euw069.
- Wodchis WP, Bhatia RS, Leblanc K, Meshkat N, Morra D. A Review of the Cost of Atrial Fibrillation. *Value Heal*. 2012;15(2):240-248. doi:10.1016/J.JVAL.2011.09.009.
- Gorenek B, Pelliccia A, Benjamin EJ, et al. European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA)/European Association of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation (EACPR) position paper on how to prevent atrial fibrillation endorsed by the Heart Rhythm Society (HRS) and Asia Pacific Heart Rhythm Society (AP. *Europace*. 2017;19(2):190-225. doi:10.1093/europace/euw242.
- 8. Boriani G, Proietti M. Atrial fibrillation prevention: an appraisal of current evidence. *Heart*. November 2017:heartjnl-2017-311546. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2017-311546.
- 9. Allan V, Honarbakhsh S, Casas J-P, et al. Are cardiovascular risk factors also associated with the incidence of atrial fibrillation? *Thromb Haemost*.

2017;117(05):837-850. doi:10.1160/TH16-11-0825.

- Lau DH, Schotten U, Mahajan R, et al. Novel mechanisms in the pathogenesis of atrial fibrillation: practical applications. *Eur Heart J*. 2016;37(20):1573-1581. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehv375.
- Pathak RK, Middeldorp ME, Lau DH, et al. Aggressive risk factor reduction study for atrial fibrillation and implications for the outcome of ablation: the ARREST-AF cohort study. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2014;64(21):2222-2231. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2014.09.028.
- Huxley RR, Lopez FL, Folsom AR, et al. Absolute and Attributable Risks of Atrial Fibrillation in Relation to Optimal and Borderline Risk Factors: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. *Circulation*. 2011;123(14):1501-1508. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.009035.
- Lip GYH, Lane DA. Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation. *JAMA*.
 2015;313(19):1950-1962. doi:10.1001/jama.2015.4369.
- Lip GYH, Nieuwlaat R, Pisters R, Lane DA, Crijns HJGM. Refining clinical risk stratification for predicting stroke and thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation using a novel risk factor-based approach: the euro heart survey on atrial fibrillation. *Chest*. 2010;137(2):263-272. doi:10.1378/chest.09-1584.
- Proietti M, Mujovic N, Potpara TS. Optimizing Stroke and Bleeding Risk Assessment in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation: A Balance of Evidence, Practicality and Precision. *Thromb Haemost.* 2018;118(12):2014-2017. doi:10.1055/s-0038-1676074.
- Oldgren J, Hijazi Z, Lindbäck J, et al. Performance and Validation of a Novel Biomarker-Based Stroke Risk Score for Atrial FibrillationClinical Perspective. *Circulation*. 2016;134(22):1697-1707. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.116.022802.
- 17. Borre ED, Goode A, Raitz G, et al. Predicting Thromboembolic and Bleeding Event

Risk in Patients with Non-Valvular Atrial Fibrillation: A Systematic Review. *Thromb Haemost*. 2018;118(12):2171-2187. doi:10.1055/s-0038-1675400.

- Proietti M, Farcomeni A, Romiti GF, et al. Association between clinical risk scores and mortality in atrial fibrillation: Systematic review and network meta-regression of 669,000 patients. *Eur J Prev Cardiol*. December 2018:204748731881766. doi:10.1177/2047487318817662.
- Kirchhof P, Benussi S, Kotecha D, et al. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with EACTS. *Eur Heart J*. 2016;37(38):2893-2962. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehw210.
- Ruff CT, Giugliano RP, Braunwald E, et al. Comparison of the efficacy and safety of new oral anticoagulants with warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation: A metaanalysis of randomised trials. *Lancet*. 2014;383(9921):955-962. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62343-0.
- Lip GYH, Banerjee A, Boriani G, et al. Antithrombotic Therapy for Atrial Fibrillation: CHEST Guideline and Expert Panel Report. *Chest.* August 2018. doi:10.1016/j.chest.2018.07.040.
- Macle L, Cairns J, Leblanc K, et al. 2016 Focused Update of the Canadian Cardiovascular Society Guidelines for the Management of Atrial Fibrillation. *Can J Cardiol*. 2016;32(10):1170-1185. doi:10.1016/j.cjca.2016.07.591.
- Andrade JG, Verma A, Mitchell LB, et al. 2018 Focused Update of the Canadian Cardiovascular Society Guidelines for the Management of Atrial Fibrillation. *Can J Cardiol.* 2018;34(11):1371-1392. doi:10.1016/j.cjca.2018.08.026.
- Roskell NS, Samuel M, Noack H, Monz BU. Major bleeding in patients with atrial fibrillation receiving vitamin K antagonists: a systematic review of randomized and observational studies. *Europace*. 2013;15(6):787-797. doi:10.1093/europace/eut001.
- 25. Lamberts M, Staerk L, Olesen JB, et al. Major Bleeding Complications and

Persistence With Oral Anticoagulation in Non-Valvular Atrial Fibrillation: Contemporary Findings in Real-Life Danish Patients. *J Am Heart Assoc*. 2017;6(2):e004517. doi:10.1161/JAHA.116.004517.

- Wan Y, Heneghan C, Perera R, et al. Anticoagulation control and prediction of adverse events in patients with atrial fibrillation: a systematic review. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes*. 2008;1(2):84-91. doi:10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.108.796185.
- Sandén P, Renlund H, Svensson PJ, Själander A. Bleeding complications and mortality in warfarin-treated VTE patients, dependence of INR variability and iTTR. *Thromb Haemost.* 2016;117(1):27-32. doi:10.1160/TH16-06-0489.
- Sjögren V, Grzymala-Lubanski B, Renlund H, et al. Safety and efficacy of well managed warfarin. A report from the Swedish quality register Auricula. *Thromb Haemost.* 2015;113(6):1370-1377. doi:10.1160/TH14-10-0859.
- Gallagher AM, Setakis E, Plumb JM, Clemens A, van Staa T-P. Risks of stroke and mortality associated with suboptimal anticoagulation in atrial fibrillation patients. *Thromb Haemost.* 2011;106(5):968-977. doi:10.1160/TH11-05-0353.
- Kooistra HAM, Veeger NJGM, Khorsand N, Kluin-Nelemans HC, Meijer K, Piersma-Wichers M. Long-term quality of VKA treatment and clinical outcome after extreme overanticoagulation in 14,777 AF and VTE patients. *Thromb Haemost.* 2014;113(4):881-890. doi:10.1160/TH14-06-0537.
- Raparelli V, Proietti M, Cangemi R, Lip GYHGYH, Lane DADA, Basili S. Adherence to oral anticoagulant therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation focus on non-vitamin k antagonist oral anticoagulants. *Thromb Haemost*. 2017;117(2):209-218. doi:10.1160/TH16-10-0757.
- 32. Soliman EZ, Lopez F, O'Neal WT, et al. Atrial Fibrillation and Risk of ST-Segment-Elevation Versus Non-ST-Segment-Elevation Myocardial Infarction: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. *Circulation*.

2015;131(21):1843-1850. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.014145.

- Proietti M, Laroche C, Opolski G, et al. "Real-world" atrial fibrillation management in Europe: observations from the 2-year follow-up of the EURObservational Research Programme-Atrial Fibrillation General Registry Pilot Phase. *Europace*. 2017;19(5):722-733. doi:10.1093/europace/euw112.
- Proietti M, Laroche C, Nieuwlaat R, et al. Increased burden of comorbidities and risk of cardiovascular death in atrial fibrillation patients in Europe over ten years: A comparison between EORP-AF pilot and EHS-AF registries. *Eur J Intern Med*. 2018. doi:10.1016/j.ejim.2018.05.016.
- Soliman EZ, Safford MM, Muntner P, et al. Atrial fibrillation and the risk of myocardial infarction. *JAMA Intern Med*. 2014;174(1):107-114. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.11912.
- Fauchier L, Villejoubert O, Clementy N, et al. Causes of Death and Influencing Factors in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation. *Am J Med.* 2016;129(12):1278-1287. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2016.06.045.
- Pokorney SD, Piccini JP, Stevens SR, et al. Cause of Death and Predictors of All-Cause Mortality in Anticoagulated Patients With Nonvalvular Atrial Fibrillation: Data From ROCKET AF. *J Am Heart Assoc*. 2016;5(3). doi:10.1161/JAHA.115.002197.
- Gómez-Outes A, Lagunar-Ruíz J, Terleira-Fernández A-I, Calvo-Rojas G, Suárez-Gea ML, Vargas-Castrillón E. Causes of Death in Anticoagulated Patients With Atrial Fibrillation. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2016;68(23):2508-2521. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2016.09.944.
- Lip GYH, Frison L, Grind M, SPORTIF Invetigators. Effect of hypertension on anticoagulated patients with atrial fibrillation. *Eur Heart J*. 2007;28(6):752-759. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehl504.
- 40. Dzeshka MS, Shahid F, Shantsila A, Lip GYH. Hypertension and Atrial Fibrillation: An Intimate Association of Epidemiology, Pathophysiology, and Outcomes. *Am J*

Hypertens. 2017;45(5):1304-1312. doi:10.1093/ajh/hpx013.

- Pisters R, Lane DA, Nieuwlaat R, de Vos CB, Crijns HJGM, Lip GYH. A novel userfriendly score (HAS-BLED) to assess 1-year risk of major bleeding in patients with atrial fibrillation: the Euro Heart Survey. *Chest*. 2010;138(5):1093-1100. doi:10.1378/chest.10-0134.
- Rao MP, Halvorsen S, Wojdyla D, et al. Blood Pressure Control and Risk of Stroke or Systemic Embolism in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: Results From the Apixaban for Reduction in Stroke and Other Thromboembolic Events in Atrial Fibrillation (ARISTOTLE) Trial. *J Am Heart Assoc*. 2015;4(12):e002015. doi:10.1161/JAHA.115.002015.
- Nagarakanti R, Wallentin L, Noack H, et al. Comparison of Characteristics and Outcomes of Dabigatran Versus Warfarin in Hypertensive Patients With Atrial Fibrillation (from the RE-LY Trial). *Am J Cardiol*. 2015;116(8):1204-1209. doi:10.1016/j.amjcard.2015.07.032.
- Proietti M, Romiti GF, Olshansky B, Lip GYH. Systolic Blood Pressure Visit-to-Visit Variability and Major Adverse Outcomes in Atrial Fibrillation: The AFFIRM Study (Atrial Fibrillation Follow-Up Investigation of Rhythm Management). *Hypertens* (*Dallas, Tex 1979*). 2017;70(5). doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.117.10106.
- Echouffo-Tcheugui JB, Shrader P, Thomas L, et al. Care Patterns and Outcomes in Atrial Fibrillation Patients With and Without Diabetes: ORBIT-AF Registry. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2017;70(11):1325-1335. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2017.07.755.
- Klem I, Wehinger C, Schneider B, et al. Diabetic atrial fibrillation patients: mortality and risk for stroke or embolism during a 10-year follow-up. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* 2003;19(4):320-328. doi:10.1002/dmrr.386.
- Overvad TF, Skjøth F, Lip GYH, et al. Duration of Diabetes Mellitus and Risk of Thromboembolism and Bleeding in Atrial Fibrillation. *Stroke*. 2015;46(8):2168-2174. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.115.009371.

- Ashburner JM, Go AS, Chang Y, et al. Effect of Diabetes and Glycemic Control on Ischemic Stroke Risk in AF Patients: ATRIA Study. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2016;67(3):239-247. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2015.10.080.
- Saliba W, Barnett-Griness O, Elias M, Rennert G. Glycated hemoglobin and risk of first episode stroke in diabetic patients with atrial fibrillation: A cohort study. *Hear Rhythm.* 2015;12(5):886-892. doi:10.1016/j.hrthm.2015.01.025.
- Anandasundaram B, Lane DA, Apostolakis S, Lip GYH. The impact of atherosclerotic vascular disease in predicting a stroke, thromboembolism and mortality in atrial fibrillation patients: a systematic review. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2013;11(5):975-987. doi:10.1111/jth.12177.
- Proietti M, Farcomeni A. Association Between Peripheral Artery Disease and Incident Risk of Atrial Fibrillation: Strong Evidence Coming From Population-Based Cohort Studies. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2018;7(8):e009126. doi:10.1161/JAHA.118.009126.
- Proietti M, Raparelli V, Laroche C, et al. Adverse outcomes in patients with atrial fibrillation and peripheral arterial disease: a report from the EURObservational research programme pilot survey on atrial fibrillation. *EP Eur.* 2016;19(9):1439-1448. doi:10.1093/europace/euw169.
- 53. Proietti M. Is there a relationship between atrial fibrillation and peripheral arterial disease? https://www.escardio.org/Journals/E-Journal-of-Cardiology-Practice/Volume-16/Is-there-a-relationship-between-atrial-fibrillation-and-peripheral-arterial-disease. Published 2018. Accessed March 14, 2018.
- 54. Frost L, Engholm G, Johnsen S, Møller H, Husted S. Incident stroke after discharge from the hospital with a diagnosis of atrial fibrillation. *Am J Med*. 2000;108(1):36-40. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11059439. Accessed January 8, 2018.
- 55. Violi F, Davì G, Proietti M, et al. Ankle-Brachial Index and cardiovascular events in atrial fibrillation: The ARAPACIS study. *Thromb Haemost*. 2016;115(4).

doi:10.1160/TH15-07-0612.

- 56. Proietti M, Laroche C, Drozd M, et al. Impact of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease on prognosis in atrial fibrillation: A report from the EURObservational Research Programme Pilot Survey on Atrial Fibrillation (EORP-AF) General Registry. *Am Heart J*. 2016;181. doi:10.1016/j.ahj.2016.08.011.
- Huang B, Yang Y, Zhu J, et al. Clinical characteristics and prognostic significance of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in patients with atrial fibrillation: Results from a multicenter atrial fibrillation registry study. *J Am Med Dir Assoc*.
 2014;15(8):576-581. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2014.04.009.
- Durheim MT, Cyr DD, Lopes RD, et al. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in patients with atrial fibrillation: Insights from the ARISTOTLE trial. *Int J Cardiol*. 2015;202:589-594. doi:10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.09.062.
- Olesen KKW, Madsen M, Lip GYH, et al. Coronary artery disease and risk of adverse cardiac events and stroke. *Eur J Clin Invest*. 2017;47(11):819-828. doi:10.1111/eci.12804.
- Polovina M, Hindricks G, Maggioni A, et al. Association of metabolic syndrome with non-thromboembolic adverse cardiac outcomes in patients with atrial fibrillation. *Eur Heart J.* 2018;39(45):4030-4039. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehy446.
- Potpara TS, Ferro CJ, Lip GYH. Use of oral anticoagulants in patients with atrial fibrillation and renal dysfunction. *Nat Rev Nephrol*. 2018;14(5):337-351. doi:10.1038/nrneph.2018.19.
- Lau YC, Proietti M, Guiducci E, Blann AD, Lip GYH. Atrial Fibrillation and Thromboembolism in Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2016;68(13):1452-1464. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2016.06.057.
- Banerjee A, Fauchier L, Vourc'h P, et al. Renal impairment and ischemic stroke risk assessment in patients with atrial fibrillation: the Loire Valley Atrial Fibrillation Project. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2013;61(20):2079-2087. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2013.02.035.

- Banerjee A, Fauchier L, Vourc'h P, et al. A prospective study of estimated glomerular filtration rate and outcomes in patients with atrial fibrillation: the Loire Valley Atrial Fibrillation Project. *Chest.* 2014;145(6):1370-1382. doi:10.1378/chest.13-2103.
- Proietti M, Lane DADA, Lip GYHGYH. Chronic Kidney Disease, Time in Therapeutic Range and Adverse Clinical Outcomes in Anticoagulated Patients with Non-valvular Atrial Fibrillation: Observations from the SPORTIF Trials. *EBioMedicine*. 2016;8:309-316. doi:10.1016/j.ebiom.2016.04.013.
- van den Akker M, Buntinx F, Metsemakers JF, Roos S, Knottnerus JA.
 Multimorbidity in general practice: prevalence, incidence, and determinants of cooccurring chronic and recurrent diseases. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 1998;51(5):367-375.
 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9619963. Accessed July 19, 2018.
- Barnett K, Mercer SW, Norbury M, Watt G, Wyke S, Guthrie B. Epidemiology of multimorbidity and implications for health care, research, and medical education: a cross-sectional study. *Lancet*. 2012;380(9836):37-43. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60240-2.
- 68. Plsek PE, Greenhalgh T. Complexity science: The challenge of complexity in health care. *BMJ*. 2001;323(7313):625-628. doi:10.1136/bmj.323.7313.625.
- Forman DE, Maurer MS, Boyd C, et al. Multimorbidity in Older Adults With Cardiovascular Disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2018;71(19):2149-2161. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2018.03.022.
- Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J *Chronic Dis.* 1987;40(5):373-383. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3558716. Accessed July 18, 2018.
- 71. Rashid M, Kwok CS, Gale CP, et al. Impact of co-morbid burden on mortality in patients with coronary heart disease, heart failure, and cerebrovascular accident: a

systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur Hear J - Qual Care Clin Outcomes*. 2016;3(1):20-36. doi:10.1093/ehjqcco/qcw025.

- Wyse DG, Waldo AL, DiMarco JP, et al. A comparison of rate control and rhythm control in patients with atrial fibrillation. *N Engl J Med*. 2002;347(23):1825-1833. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa021328.
- 73. Lip GYH, Laroche C, Dan G-A, et al. A prospective survey in European Society of Cardiology member countries of atrial fibrillation management: baseline results of EURObservational Research Programme Atrial Fibrillation (EORP-AF) Pilot General Registry. *Europace*. 2014;16(3):308-319. doi:10.1093/europace/eut373.
- 74. Nobili A, Licata G, Salerno F, et al. Polypharmacy, length of hospital stay, and inhospital mortality among elderly patients in internal medicine wards. The REPOSI study. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*. 2011;67(5):507-519. doi:10.1007/s00228-010-0977-0.
- 75. Salvi F, Miller MD, Grilli A, et al. A manual of guidelines to score the modified Cumulative Illness Rating Scale and its validation in acute hospitalized elderly patients. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2008;56(10):1926-1931. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2008.01935.x.
- Katzman R, Brown T, Fuld P, Peck A, Schechter R, Schimmel H. Validation of a short Orientation-Memory-Concentration Test of cognitive impairment. *Am J Psychiatry*. 1983;140(6):734-739. doi:10.1176/ajp.140.6.734.
- Yesavage JA, Brink TL, Rose TL, et al. Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening scale: a preliminary report. *J Psychiatr Res.* 1982;17(1):37-49. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7183759. Accessed August 25, 2014.
- MAHONEY FI, BARTHEL DW. FUNCTIONAL EVALUATION: THE BARTHEL INDEX. *Md State Med J.* 1965;14:61-65. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14258950. Accessed October 31, 2014.
- 79. D'Hoore W, Bouckaert A, Tilquin C. Practical considerations on the use of the Charlson comorbidity index with administrative data bases. *J Clin Epidemiol*.

1996;49(12):1429-1433. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8991959. Accessed March 17, 2017.

- Boriani G, Proietti M. Atrial fibrillation prevention: an appraisal of current evidence. *Heart*. 2018;104(11):882-887. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2017-311546.
- Boriani G, Proietti M, Laroche C, et al. Contemporary stroke prevention strategies in 11 096 European patients with atrial fibrillation: a report from the EURObservational Research Programme on Atrial Fibrillation (EORP-AF) Long-Term General Registry. *Europace*. 2018;20(5):747-757. doi:10.1093/europace/eux301.
- Inohara T, Shrader P, Pieper K, et al. Association of of Atrial Fibrillation Clinical Phenotypes With Treatment Patterns and Outcomes: A Multicenter Registry Study. *JAMA Cardiol.* 2018;3(1):54-63. doi:10.1001/jamacardio.2017.4665.
- Vanbeselaere V, Truyers C, Elli S, et al. Association between atrial fibrillation, anticoagulation, risk of cerebrovascular events and multimorbidity in general practice: a registry-based study. *BMC Cardiovasc Disord*. 2016;16(1):61. doi:10.1186/s12872-016-0235-1.
- 84. Steinberg BA, Shrader P, Thomas L, et al. Factors associated with non-vitamin K antagonist oral anticoagulants for stroke prevention in patients with new-onset atrial fibrillation: Results from the Outcomes Registry for Better Informed Treatment of Atrial Fibrillation II (ORBIT-AF II). *Am Heart J*. 2017;189:40-47. doi:10.1016/j.ahj.2017.03.024.
- Jani BD, Nicholl BI, McQueenie R, et al. Multimorbidity and co-morbidity in atrial fibrillation and effects on survival: findings from UK Biobank cohort. *Europace*. November 2017. doi:10.1093/europace/eux322.
- 86. Alexander KP, Brouwer MA, Mulder H, et al. Outcomes of Apixaban versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation and multi-morbidity: Insights from the ARISTOTLE trial. *Am Heart J*. November 2018. doi:10.1016/J.AHJ.2018.09.017.

50

- Marijon E, Le Heuzey J-Y, Connolly S, et al. Causes of death and influencing factors in patients with atrial fibrillation: a competing-risk analysis from the randomized evaluation of long-term anticoagulant therapy study. *Circulation*. 2013;128(20):2192-2201. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.000491.
- 88. Boriani G, Proietti M, Laroche C, et al. Changes to oral anticoagulant therapy and risk of death over a 3-year follow-up of a contemporary cohort of European patients with atrial fibrillation final report of the EURObservational Research Programme on Atrial Fibrillation (EORP-AF) pilot general r. *Int J Cardiol*. 2018. doi:10.1016/j.ijcard.2018.05.034.
- Perera KS, Pearce LA, Sharma M, et al. Predictors of Mortality in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation (from the Atrial Fibrillation Clopidogrel Trial With Irbesartan for Prevention of Vascular Events [ACTIVE A]). *Am J Cardiol*. 2018;121(5):584-589. doi:10.1016/j.amjcard.2017.11.028.
- Kim E-J, Yin X, Fontes JD, et al. Atrial fibrillation without comorbidities: Prevalence, incidence and prognosis (from the Framingham Heart Study). *Am Heart J*. 2016;177:138-144. doi:10.1016/j.ahj.2016.03.023.
- Radovanovic D, Seifert B, Urban P, et al. Validity of Charlson Comorbidity Index in patients hospitalised with acute coronary syndrome. Insights from the nationwide AMIS Plus registry 2002-2012. *Heart*. 2014;100(4):288-294. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2013-304588.
- Goldstein LB, Samsa GP, Matchar DB, Horner RD. Charlson Index comorbidity adjustment for ischemic stroke outcome studies. *Stroke*. 2004;35(8):1941-1945. doi:10.1161/01.STR.0000135225.80898.1c.
- Gallagher C, Elliott AD, Wong CX, et al. Integrated care in atrial fibrillation: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Heart*. 2017;103(24):1947-1953. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2016-310952.
- 94. Kirchhof P. The future of atrial fibrillation management: integrated care and

51

stratified therapy. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2017;390(10105):1873-1887. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31072-3.

- Kotecha D, Breithardt G, Camm AJ, et al. Integrating new approaches to atrial fibrillation management: The 6th AFNET/EHRA Consensus Conference. *Europace*. 2018;20(3):395-407. doi:10.1093/europace/eux318.
- 96. Lip GYH. The ABC pathway: an integrated approach to improve AF management. *Nat Rev Cardiol*. 2017;14(11):627-628. doi:10.1038/nrcardio.2017.153.
- 97. Proietti M, Romiti GF, Olshansky B, Lane DA, Lip GYH. Improved Outcomes by Integrated Care of Anticoagulated Patients with Atrial Fibrillation Using the Simple ABC (Atrial Fibrillation Better Care) Pathway. *Am J Med*. August 2018. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2018.06.012.
- Zemedikun DT, Gray LJ, Khunti K, Davies MJ, Dhalwani NN. Patterns of Multimorbidity in Middle-Aged and Older Adults: An Analysis of the UK Biobank Data. *Mayo Clin Proc.* 2018;93(7):857-866. doi:10.1016/j.mayocp.2018.02.012.
- Wolff JL, Starfield B, Anderson G. Prevalence, expenditures, and complications of multiple chronic conditions in the elderly. *Arch Intern Med*. 2002;162(20):2269-2276. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12418941. Accessed December 11, 2018.
- 100. Kramer MHH, Bauer W, Dicker D, et al. The changing face of internal medicine: patient centred care. *Eur J Intern Med*. 2014;25(2):125-127. doi:10.1016/j.ejim.2013.11.013.

TABLES

Table 1: Association between main risk factors and risk of incident Atrial Fibrillation

Clinical Factor	Years	Type of Studies	Studies (N)	Patients (N)	Follow-	Increase in Risk*
					Up	
Modifiable Lifestyle Risk	<u>Factors</u>					
Alcohol Consumption	1985-2014	Prospective Cohort	17	245,903	2.5->50	HR 1.08 per 1 drink/day
		Observational Cohort			years	HR 1.08 per 10 g alcohol/day
		Case-Control				
Physical Activity	2008-2015	Prospective Cohort	12	649,457	5.4-30	Leisure Exercise reduces risk
		Retrospective Cohort			years	Endurance Training increases risk
		Longitudinal Cohort				
Psychological Distress	2004-2012	Prospective	5	83,442	7-10	Anger and Hostility: HR 1.1-1.3
		Observational			years	Tension: HR 1.28
		RCT				Anxiety: HR 1.16
						Panic Disorder: HR 1.73
						High Job Strain: HR 1.23
Smoking Habit	1997-2015	Prospective Cohort	15	349,130	5-25.2	Former Smoker: HR 1.32-1.67
		Hospital Based			years	Current Smoker: HR 1.44-2.05
		Internet Based				≤300 cig-years: HR 1.60
						>300 to ≤675 cig-years: HR 2.10
Cardiovascular Risk Fac	<u>ctors</u>					
Diabetes Mellitus	1994-2014	Prospective Cohort	12	1,771551	3-38	HR 1.14 (NS) -1.40
		Population Based			years	HR 1.13 per HbA1c 1% increase
		RCT				Higher risk was found for longer diabetes
						history
						HR 1.49 for incident diabetes

Hypertension	1994-2015	Prospective Cohort	9	76,475	2-38	SBP >140 mmHg progressively increases risk	
		Community Based			years	DBP >90 mmHg progressively increases risk	
		RCT				HR 1.11-1.16 per 10 mmHg SBP increase	
						HR 1.17 per 10 mmHg DBP increase	
Obesity	1996-2015	Prospective Cohort	10	152,122	4.7-34.3	Overweight: HR 1.18-1.22	
		Community Based			years	Obese: HR 1.40-1.65	
		Population Based				HR 1.45 per 5 kg/m ² increase	
		Case-Control					
OSAS	2007-2015	Prospective Cohort	2	10,383	4.7-11.9	HR 1.55-2.18	
					years		
Legend: Reproduced from Boriani and Proietti Heart 2017 doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2017-3115468; AF= Atrial Fibrillation; cig= cigarette;							

DBP= Diastolic Blood Pressure; HR= Hazard Ratio; NS= Not Significant; OSAS= Obstructive Sleep Apnoea Syndrome; SBP= Systolic Blood Pressure; RCT= Randomized Controlled Trials; *All HR reported are statistically significant, except where reported.

	Score Item	Scoring
С	Congestive Heart Failure	1
н	Hypertension	1
A ₂	Age ≥75 Years Old	2
D	Diabetes Mellitus	1
S ₂	Stroke or TIA	2
V	Vascular Disease	1
Α	Age 65-74 Years Old	1
Sc	Sex Category (i.e. female)	1

Table 2: CHA2DS2-VASc Score

Legend: TIA= Transient Ischemic Attack.

	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	р
	(0-1)	(2)	(3)	(≥4)	
	N= 1809	N= 1108	N= 615	N= 528	
Age, years median [IQR]	71 [65-76]	70 [64-76]	71 [64-76]	71 [65-76]	0.078
Female Sex, n (%)	731 (40.4)	450 (40.6)	229 (37.2)	184 (34.8)	0.065
SBP, <i>mmHg</i> median [IQR]	131 [120-148]	135 [120-150]	132 [120-149]	120 [130-150]	<0.001
DBP, <i>mmHg</i> median [IQR]	78 [70-84]	78 [70-84]	76 [70-82]	72 [64-81]	<0.001
Smoking Habit, n (%)	156 (8.6)	146 (13.2)	94 (15.3)	100 (18.9)	<0.001
First AF Episode, n (%)	550 (31.6)	376 (35.1)	252 (42.4)	213 (41.8)	<0.001
Symptoms ≥2 , n (%)	1048 (58.0)	687 (62.0)	423 (68.9)	404 (76.7)	<0.001
Randomized Treatment, n (%)					0.914
Rate Control	895 (49.5)	563 (50.8)	305 (49.6)	264 (50.0)	
Rhythm Control	914 (50.5)	545 (49.2)	310 (50.4)	264 (50.0)	
Drugs , <i>n</i> median [IQR]	3 [2-4]	4 [3-5]	5 [4-6]	6 [5-6]	<0.001
Polypharmacy, n (%)	425 (23.5)	457 (41.2)	345 (56.1)	400 (75.9)	<0.001
CHA2DS2-VASc, median [IQR]	2 [1-3]	3 [2-4]	4 [3-5]	5 [4-6]	<0.001

<u>Table 3</u>: Baseline Characteristics according to Cumulative Comorbidities Quartiles in AFFIRM Study

CHA₂DS₂-VASc ≥2 , n (%)	1295 (71.6)	1026 (92.6)	603 (98.0)	526 (99.6)	<0.001
Aspirin, n (%)	423 (23.4)	287 (25.9)	185 (30.1)	186 (35.2)	<0.001
Warfarin, n (%)	1508 (83.4)	935 (84.4)	530 (86.2)	461 (87.3)	0.097
TTR, % median [IQR]	69.6 [55.7-81.9]	67.8 [50.3-81.4]	64.1 [46.1-80.0]	62.8 [44.3-77.8]	<0.001

Legend: AF= Atrial Fibrillation; BMI= Body Mass Index; DBP= Diastolic Blood Pressure; IQR= Interquartile Range; SBP= Systolic

Blood Pressure; TTR= Time in Therapeutic Range.

		TTR >70%*			TTR ≤65%*			TTR ≤60%*	
	OR	95% CI	р	OR	95% CI	р	OR	95% CI	р
1 st Quartile	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
2 nd Quartile	0.87	0.73-1.03	0.103	1.22	1.03-1.45	0.023	1.34	1.12-1.60	0.001
2 Quartile	0.73	0.59-0.90	0.004	1.55	1.25-1.92	<0.001	1.69	1.36-2.11	<0.001
4 th Quartile	0.58	0.46-0.73	<0.001	1.76	1.39-2.22	<0.001	1.91	1.51-2.42	<0.001
Cumulative Comorbidities	0.88	0.83-0.92	<0.001	1.16	1.09-1.22	<0.001	1.18	1.12-1.25	<0.001
_egend: *Adjusted	l for age,	sex, systolic	blood pres	sure, diaste	olic blood pre	essure, first	t atrial fibri	llation episod	e, randomiz
treatment and p	olypharma	acy; CI= Co	onfidence	Interval;	OR= Odds	Ratio; T	TR= Time	in Therap	eutic Ran

<u>Table 4</u>: Logistic Regression Analysis for Quality of Anticoagulation Control Indexes

	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	р
	(0-1)	(2)	(3)	(≥4)	
	N= 1809	N= 1108	N= 615	N= 528	
Stroke, n (%)	57 (3.2)	45 (4.1)	31 (5.0)	24 (4.5)	0.136
Major Bleeding, n (%)	92 (5.1)	66 (6.0)	46 (7.5)	53 (10.0)	<0.001
CV Death, n (%)	57 (3.2)	68 (6.1)	78 (12.7)	128 (24.2)	<0.001
All-Cause Death, n (%)	143 (7.9)	147 (13.3)	137 (22.3)	186 (35.2)	<0.001
First Hospitalization, n (%)	968 (54.4)	694 (63.5)	424 (69.9)	389 (76.7)	<0.001
First CV Hospitalization, n (%)	438 (30.3)	330 (37.1)	178 (38.8)	190 (50.5)	<0.001
Multiple Hospitalizations, n (%)	392 (27.1)	298 (33.5)	201 (43.8)	198 (52.7)	<0.001

<u>Table 5</u>: Major Clinical Adverse Events according to Cumulative Comorbidities Quartiles

Legend: CV= Cardiovascular

<u>Table 6</u>: Baseline Characteristics according to Comorbidity in EORP-AF Pilot Study

	Low Multimorbidity	High Multimorbidity	р
	N= 840	N= 789	
Demographics			
Age in years Median (IQR)	68.0 (61.0-75.0)	74.0 (66.0-80.0)	<0.0001
Female gender (%)	356 / 840 (42.4%)	306 / 789 (38.8%)	0.1395
BMI , n (%)			
Underweight	9 / 799 (1.1%)	9 / 775 (1.2%)	0.0254
Normal	245 / 799 (30.7%)	209 / 775 (27.0%)	
Overweight	345 / 799 (43.2%)	310 / 775 (40.0%)	
Obese	200 / 799 (25.0%)	247 / 775 (31.9%)	
Type of AF, n (%)			
First detected	281 / 840 (33.5%)	244 / 789 (30.9%)	<0.0001
Paroxysmal	235 / 840 (28.0%)	162 / 789 (20.5%)	
Long-standing persistent AF	185 / 840 (22.0%)	162 / 789 (20.5%)	
Persistent	27 / 840 (3.2%)	47 / 789 (6.0%)	
Permanent	112 / 840 (13.3%)	174 / 789 (22.1%)	
Current smoker, n (%)	95 / 818 (11.6%)	69 / 778 (8.9%)	0.0711
Alcohol >= 2-3/day, n (%)	74 / 783 (9.5%)	58 / 751 (7.7%)	0.2277
EHRA I Class, n (%)	369 / 840 (43.9%)	376 / 789 (47.7%)	0.1313
Physical activity, n (%)	468 / 769 (60.9%)	388 / 751 (51.7%)	0.0003
HAS-BLED score			
Median (IQR)	1.0 (0.0-2.0)	2.0 (1.0-3.0)	<0.0001
0-2	786 / 840 (93.6%)	583 / 789 (73.9%)	<0.0001
>=3	54 / 840 (6.4%)	206 / 789 (26.1%)	
CHA2DS2-VASc score			
Median (IQR)	2.0 (1.0-3.0)	4.0 (3.0-5.0)	<0.0001

	0 or 1	229 / 840 (27.3%)	12 / 789 (1.5%)	<0.0001
	>=2	611 / 840 (72.7%)	777 / 789 (98.5%)	
Ar	tithrombotic therapy, n (%)			
	At least one	797 / 837 (95.2%)	762 / 789 (96.6%)	0.1689
	Any antiplatelet	231 / 838 (27.6%)	376 / 788 (47.7%)	<0.0001
	Aspirin	212 / 838 (25.3%)	333 / 788 (42.3%)	<0.0001
	Any OAC	666 / 834 (79.9%)	645 / 789 (81.7%)	0.3334
	VKA	600 / 834 (71.9%)	621 / 789 (78.7%)	0.0016
	NOACs	66 / 838 (7.9%)	26 / 789 (3.3%)	<0.0001
Pa	tterns of Antithrombotic Drugs,			
n (%)			
	No Antiplatelet/No OAC	40 / 834 (4.8%)	27 / 788 (3.4%)	<0.0001
	Antiplatelet drugs only	128 / 834 (15.3%)	117 / 788 (14.8%)	
	OAC only	566 / 834 (67.9%)	385 / 788 (48.9%)	
	Antiplatelet + OAC	100 / 834 (12.0%)	259 / 788 (32.9%)	

Legend: AF= Atrial Fibrillation; BMI= Body Mass Index; EHRA= European Heart Rhythm Association; NOACs= Non-Vitamin K Antagonist Oral Anticoagulants; OAC= Oral Anticoagulant; VKA= Vitamin K Antagonist.

	Low	High	
	Multimorbidity	Multimorbidity	
	N= 840	N= 789	р
Stroke, n (%)	10 / 767 (1.3%)	13 / 619 (2.1%)	0.2486
Any TE , n (%)	23 / 767 (3.0%)	34 / 619 (5.5%)	0.0201
Bleeding, n (%)	24 / 766 (3.1%)	25 / 618 (4.0%)	0.3613
CV Death, n (%)	30 / 840 (3.6%)	70 / 789 (8.9%)	<0.0001
All-Cause Death, n (%)	82 / 840 (9.8%)	183 / 789 (23.2%)	<0.0001
Any TE/Bleeding/CV death, n (%)	75 / 772 (9.7%)	123 / 653 (18.8%)	<0.0001
Any AF Rehospitalisation, n (%)	207 / 765 (27.1%)	119 / 620 (19.2%)	0.0006
Any CV Rehospitalisation, n (%)	130 / 767 (16.9%)	179 / 619 (28.9%)	<0.0001

Table 7: Major Adverse Events at Follow-Up in EORP-AF Pilot

Legend: AF= Atrial Fibrillation; CV= Cardiovascular; TE= Thromboembolic Event.

	Index of	Index of	Index of	р
	Comorbidity T1	Comorbidity T2	Comorbidity T3	
	N= 362	N= 412	N= 328	
Age years, median [IQR]	81 [76-86]	82 [77-86]	81 [76-86]	0.424
BMI kg/m ² , median [IQR] 660	24.7 [22.1-27.7]	25.7 [23.1-28.3]	25.6 [22.7-30.4]	0.323
GDS, median [IQR] 628	1 [0-2]	1 [0-2]	1 [0-2]	0.010
SBT, median [IQR] 677	6 [2-12]	8 [4-14]	10 [4-16]	<0.001
Barthel Index, median [IQR] 720	95 [82-100]	92 [68-100]	86 [62-100]	<0.001
Education years, median [IQR] 689	5 [5-10]	5 [5-10]	5 [5-8]	0.417
Female Sex, n (%)	203 (56.1)	211 (51.2)	157 (47.9)	0.093
Work Type, n (%)				0.221
Low Income	256 (76.0)	312 (82.3)	229 (77.9)	
Middle Income	49 (14.5)	37 (9.8)	34 (11.6)	
High Income	32 (9.5)	30 (7.9)	31 (10.5)	
Marital Status, n (%)				0.477
Single	182 (51.6)	211 (52.9)	164 (51.2)	
Married	139 (39.4)	164 (41.1)	126 (39.4)	
Unmarried	32 (9.1)	24 (6.0)	30 (9.4)	
Living Status, n (%)				0.374

<u>Table 8</u>: Baseline Characteristics according to the Burden of Comorbidity

Alone	90 (25.9)	89 (22.6)	64 (20.4)	
Spouse	154 (44.3)	161 (40.9)	136 (43.5)	
Family	78 (22.4)	107 (27.2)	79 (25.2)	
Institution	26 (7.5)	37 (9.4)	34 (10.9)	
Caregiver, n (%)	185 (51.2)	242 (59.2)	206 (63.6)	0.004
Smoking Habit, n (%)	125 (35.6)	166 (40.9)	160 (50.3)	0.001
Use of Alcohol, n (%)	142 (40.6)	180 (44.4)	152 (48.6)	0.118
Hypertension, n (%)	270 (74.6)	352 (85.4)	302 (92.1)	<0.001
Hypercholesterolemia, n (%)	18 (5.0)	26 (6.3)	33 (10.1)	0.026
Heart Failure, n (%)	102 (28.2)	124 (30.1)	117 (35.7)	0.089
Coronary Artery Disease, n (%)	69 (19.1)	79 (19.2)	95 (29.0)	0.002
Previous MI, n (%)	10 (2.8)	16 (3.9)	14 (4.3)	0.539
Peripheral Arterial Disease, n (%)	6 (1.7)	13 (3.2)	17 (5.2)	0.033
Previous Stroke/TIA, n (%)	30 (8.3)	40 (9.7)	39 (11.9)	0.282
Diabetes Mellitus, n (%)	65 (18.0)	118 (28.6)	139 (42.4)	<0.001
CKD , n (%)	55 (15.2)	105 (25.5)	159 (48.5)	<0.001
COPD , n (%)	70 (19.3)	103 (25.0)	118 (36.0)	<0.001
Neoplasm, n (%)	23 (6.4)	46 (11.2)	57 (17.4)	<0.001
Polypharmacy, n (%)	247 (68.8)	314 (76.8)	291 (89.0)	<0.001
CHA2DS2-VASc, median [IQR]	4 [3-4]	4 [3-5]	4 [4-5]	<0.001

Any Antiplatelet, n (%)	108 (29.8)	128 (31.1)	119 (36.3)	0.160
VKA , n (%)	159 (43.9)	167 (40.5)	142 (43.3)	0.596
Any NOAC, n (%)	21 (5.8)	30 (7.3)	18 (5.5)	0.550
Any OAC , n (%)	180 (49.7)	197 (47.8)	160 (48.8)	0.869

Legend: BMI= body mass index; CKD= chronic kidney disease; COPD= chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; GDS= geriatric depression scale; IQR= interquartile range; MI= myocardial infarction; OAC= oral anticoagulant; SBT= short blessed test; TIA= transient ischemic attack.

	Non-AF	AF	р	AF		
	N= 240400	N= 24040	_	CCI 0-3	CCI ≥4	р
				N= 19745	N= 4295	
Age, <i>years</i> mean±SD	59.7±13.2	76.1±9.8	<0.001	75.7±9.9	77.8±8.8	<0.001
Age classes, n (%)			<0.001			<0.001
<65 years	155310 (64.6)	2964 (12.3)		2651 (13.4)	313 (7.3)	
65-74 years	47525 (19.8)	6702 (27.9)		5611 (28.4)	1091 (25.4)	
≥75 years	37565 (15.6)	14374 (59.8)		11483 (58.2)	2891 (67.3)	
Male , n (%)	11096 (46.2)	12079 (50.2)	<0.001	9841 (49.8)	2238 (52.1)	<0.001
Charlson Comorbidity Index, (mean±SD)	0.2±0.9	1.8±2.1	<0.001	1.1±1.1	5.5±1.8	<0.001
Hypertension, n (%)	79801 (33.2)	18605 (77.4)	<0.001	15452 (78.3)	3153 (73.4)	<0.001
Diabetes Mellitus, n (%)	4316 (1.8)	3555 (14.8)	<0.001	1763 (8.9)	1792 (41.7)	<0.001
Myocardial Infarction, n (%)	1723 (0.7)	1400 (5.8)	<0.001	869 (4.4)	531 (12.4)	<0.001
Congestive Heart Failure, n (%)	2919 (1.2)	7249 (30.1)	<0.001	4882 (24.7)	2367 (55.1)	<0.001
Cerebrovascular Disease, n (%)	3216 (1.3)	3605 (15.0)	<0.001	1625 (8.2)	1980 (46.1)	<0.001
Hemiplegia, n (%)	2282 (0.9)	2830 (11.8)	<0.001	1027 (5.2)	1803 (42.0)	<0.001
Dementia, n (%)	489 (0.2)	400 (1.7)	<0.001	197 (1.0)	203 (4.7)	<0.001
COPD , n (%)	3125 (1.3)	4017 (16.7)	<0.001	2523 (12.8)	1494 (34.8)	<0.001
Connective Tissue Disease, n (%)	560 (0.2)	303 (1.3)	<0.001	228 (1.1)	75 (1.7)	0.002
Ulcer, n (%)	620 (0.3)	440 (1.8)	<0.001	287 (1.4)	153 (3.6)	<0.001
Mild Liver Disease, n (%)	1918 (0.8)	1212 (5.0)	<0.001	669 (3.4)	543 (12.6)	<0.001
Moderate/Severe Liver disease, n (%)	769 (0.3)	334 (1.4)	<0.001	44 (0.2)	290 (6.7)	<0.001

<u>Table 9</u>: Baseline Characteristics according to Atrial Fibrillation and Charlson Comorbidity Index

Renal Disease, n (%)	1244 (0.5)	2087 (8.7)	<0.001	788 (4.0)	1299 (30.24)	<0.001
Metastatic Tumor, n (%)	1162 (0.5)	503 (2.1)	<0.001	0 (0.0)	503 (11.7)	<0.001
Leukemia, n (%)	117 (0.1)	86 (0.4)	<0.001	49 (0.2)	37 (0.9)	<0.001
Lymphoma, n (%)	305 (0.1)	190 (0.8)	<0.001	90 (0.5)	100 (2.3)	<0.001
Any Tumor, n (%)	4423 (1.8)	2189 (9.1)	<0.001	1124 (5.7)	1065 (24.8)	<0.001
CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc, (mean±SD)	1.4±1.2	3.3±1.4	<0.001	3.2±1.3	4.1±1.5	<0.001
Oral Anticoagulant Drugs, n (%)	4141 (1.7)	9646 (40.1)	<0.001	8358 (42.3)	4295 (30.0)	<0.001

Legend: AF= Atrial Fibrillation; CCI= Charlson Comorbidity Index; COPD= Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease; SD= Standard

Deviation.

	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	р
	N= 676	N= 683	N= 345	N= 252	
Age, years (mean±SD)	73.6±9.3	73.2±10.0	74.4±9.6	74.9±8.2	0.118
Female, n (%)	356 (52.7)	293 (42.9)	131 (38.0)	80 (31.7)	<0.001
Type of AF, n (%)					<0.001
Paroxysmal	245 (36.2)	181 (26.5)	82 (23.8)	62 (24.6)	
Persistent	125 (18.5)	125 (18.3)	44 (12.7)	34 (13.5)	
Long-Term Persistent	29 (4.3)	32 (4.7)	16 (4.6)	14 (5.6)	
Permanent	277 (41.0)	345 (50.5)	203 (58.8)	142 (56.3)	
BMI , <i>kg/m</i> ² (mean±SD)	28.3±4.3	29.1±4.7	29.8±5.6	29.0±5.4	<0.001
GFR , <i>mL/min</i> (mean±SD)	71.8±27.1	75.1±34.7	72.5±40.7	61.92±28.1	<0.001
Smoking Habit, n (%)	34 (5.0)	35 (5.1)	17 (4.9)	13 (5.2)	0.999
Excessive Alcohol, n (%)	11 (1.6)	34 (5.0)	15 (4.3)	12 (4.8)	0.006
CHA2DS2-VASc (mean±SD)	2.8±1.1	3.7±1.4	4.5±1.5	5.1±1.6	<0.001

<u>Table 10</u>: Baseline Characteristics according to Charlson Comorbidity Index Quartiles

HAS-BLED (mean±SD)	1.7±0.9	1.9±1.0	2.3±1.0	2.7±1.2	<0.001
OAC Drugs, n (%)					0.152
VKA	505 (74.7)	506 (74.1)	270 (78.3)	202 (80.2)	
NOACs	171 (25.3)	177 (25.9)	75 (21.7)	50 (19.8)	
Antiplatelet Drugs, n (%)	43 (6.4)	62 (9.1)	47 (13.6)	55 (21.8)	<0.001

Legend: AF= Atrial Fibrillation; BMI= Body Mass Index; GFR= Glomerular Filtration Rate; NOACs= Non-vitamin K Oral

Anticoagulants; OAC= Oral Anticoagulant; SD= Standard Deviation; VKA= Vitamin K Antagonist.

	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Continuous	р
					CCI	
Stroke/TIA, n (%)	8 (1.2)	18 (2.6)	11 (3.2)	8 (3.2)	-	0.104
HR (95% CI)*	Ref.	1.78 (0.75-4.22)	1.87 (0.68-5.08)	1.80 (0.59-5.53)	1.16 (0.88-1.52)	
Major Bleeding, n (%)	36 (5.3)	47 (6.9)	33 (9.6)	30 (11.9)	-	0.003
HR (95% CI)*	Ref.	1.18 (0.75-1.86)	1.52 (0.90-2.56)	1.93 (1.10-3.40)	1.19 (1.02-1.38)	
CV Death, n (%)	14 (2.1)	36 (5.3)	27 (7.8)	30 (11.9)	-	<0.001
HR (95% CI)*	Ref.	1.78 (0.95-3.37)	1.98 (0.98-4.01)	2.72 (1.30-5.69)	1.32 (1.13-1.56)	
All-Cause Death, n (%)	45 (6.7)	86 (12.6)	65 (18.8)	59 (23.4)	-	<0.001
HR (95% CI)*	Ref.	1.52 (1.05-2.20)	1.91 (1.25-2.89)	2.30 (1.47-3.61)	1.26 (1.13-1.41)	

<u>Table 11</u>: Major Adverse Events according to Charlson Comorbidity Index Quartiles

Legend: *Adjusted for type of AF and CHA₂DS₂-VASc score; CCI= Charlson Comorbidity Index; CV= Cardiovascular; TIA=

Transient Ischemic Attack.

FIGURES





Legend: Data from Global Burden of Disease (<u>http://www.healthdata.org/gbd</u>).



Figure 2: Worldwide Incidence of Atrial Fibrillation

Legend: Data from Global Burden of Disease (<u>http://www.healthdata.org/gbd</u>).


Figure 3: Percental Changes in Worldwide Prevalence of Atrial Fibrillation

Legend: Data from Global Burden of Disease (<u>http://www.healthdata.org/gbd</u>).



Figure 4: Percental Changes in Worldwide Incidence of Atrial Fibrillation

Legend: Data from Global Burden of Disease (<u>http://www.healthdata.org/gbd</u>).



Figure 5: Annual Percental Changes in DALYs Related to Atrial Fibrillation

Legend: DALYs= Daily-Adjusted Life Years; Data from Global Burden of Disease

(http://www.healthdata.org/gbd).



Figure 6: Trends in Changes in DALYs Related to Atrial Fibrillation

Legend: DALYs= Daily-Adjusted Life Years; Data from Global Burden of Disease

(http://www.healthdata.org/gbd).





Legend: Data from Global Burden of Disease (<u>http://www.healthdata.org/gbd</u>).



Figure 8: Effect of Various Interventions on Incident AF Occurrence

Legend: Expected incidence of atrial fibrillation (AF) without any prevention strategy and implementing the suggested global management of risk factors. Details about risk factors control strategies can be found in Pathak et al for ARREST-AF and Huxley et al for ARIC^{11,12}.



Figure 9: Distribution of Concomitant Comorbidities in the AFFIRM Study





the AFFIRM Study

Figure 11: Cumulative Risk of Major Bleeding according to Comorbidities



Quartiles in the AFFIRM Study

Figure 12: Cumulative Risk of CV Death according to Comorbidities Quartiles



in the AFFIRM Study

Legend: CV= Cardiovascular.

Figure 13: Cumulative Risk of All-Cause Death according to Comorbidities



Quartiles in the AFFIRM Study

Figure 14: Quality of Life Evaluation in the AFFIRM Study



Legend: Black Solid Line= High Comorbidity; Black Dashed Line= Low Comorbidity.



Figure 15: Kaplan-Meier Curve for CV Death in EORP-AF Pilot



Figure 16: Kaplan-Meier Curve for All-Cause Death in EORP-AF Pilot



Figure 17: Performance Scales Categories according to the Burden of Comorbidity

Legend: CIRS IC= Cumulative Illness Rating Scale Index of Comorbidity; GDS= Geriatric Depression Scale; SBT= Short Blessed Test.

Figure 18: Charlson Comorbidity Index Trends according to Atrial Fibrillation



Diagnosis across the Follow-Up

Legend: Whiskers stand for standard deviation of mean; AF= Atrial Fibrillation; CCI= Charlson Comorbidity Index.

Figure 19: Kaplan-Meier Curves for Major Adverse Events according to





Legend: CCI= Charlson Comorbidity Index.



Figure 20: Kaplan-Meier Curves for Major Adverse Events according to Charlson Comorbidity Index Quartiles



Figure 21: A New Modified Approach to Treat and Manage AF Patients

Legend: AF= Atrial Fibrillation, LV= Left Ventricular; adapted from Kirchhof et al. 2016¹⁹.



Figure 22: An Alternative Model for the Integrated AF Clinic with Implementation of Specialist in Internal Medicine

Legend: AF= Atrial Fibrillation; LAA= Left Atrial Appendage.